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THE TRAVELER 

When I was just a young boy 

I traveled around the world  - - 

I sailed on many a tall ship 

With all their sails unfurled. 

 

I sailed with canvas a rustling 

And waves rolling high and fast; 

Fought pirates on bounty 

To reach bustling port at last. 

 

I was out with the whalers, 

Had a crack at Moby Dick - - 

Wintered in frozen North-west -passage 

When straits filled with ice too thick. 

 

I roamed the wild and woolly west 

With six horse conestoga rig - - 

 Trotted madly through the cotton states 

With flop eared mule and gig. 

       

I tangled with rustlers, Commanchies 

And Apachies along the Chisolm Trail - - 

Raced ahead of time and ñHighway Menò 

With the ñPony Expressò U.S. Mail. 

 

I explored the inland streams and prairies 

With the dashing ñVoyageursò of old; 

Rambled through forests with the ñCoureurs 

De Bois,ò making more excitement than gold. 

 

Stood by Lochs in Scotland, 

Heard the rousing bagpipesô skirl - - 

Watched kilted Highland merrymakers 

Do their lively dance and whirl. 

 

Heard Bagpipes suddenly change their laughter 

To a coaxing daredevil reckless squeal - - 

Urging the laddies to the colors and the wars    Spent some time in Nottingham at the 

Where they their fates might seal.     Greenwood Forest; merry men and Robin Hoodôs. 

 

Yes many would never return by the Highroad,    You might wonder about all this traveling; 

To their loved Highlands or the Isles - -    The secret is I did this through the sagas, 

Only, ócross those dark, silent, mystic miles    Youôre quite sure I never left my home - -    

Falling and returning by the Lowroad in memory   Storybooks, the Epic-Lyric song and poem. 

 

Poem by Robert D. Henderson, A Medley of Rhymes, Delhi, Ontario, self-published, 1984.  The late Robert D. Henderson (D.7.5.9.) was the gr-grandson of William 

Edward Henderson II  and Susannah Davidson. 
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INTRODUCTION  In March 2020, we began compiling this family history and genealogy of the 

Henderson family of Scotland, Ireland, Megantic County and the USA.   Over the course of the last 45 

years, material has been collected by both of us, from far and wide.  Because we have incorporated family 

history as well as genealogy, you may find some interesting stories weaved into families that are not 

necessarily of your own branch of the family.  Of the more interesting are the professions and 6 marriages 

of B.3.3. Ethel Lucille Ralston, the trail of E.5. Wilson Henderson II and family from Inverness, Quebec to 

California, Oregon, and Alaska, along with Wilson IIôs marriage into several founding families of Spainôs 

colony of California, the large Henderson migration to Iowa, the business acumen of D.1. George Robert 

Henderson and his 2 unlikely wives, the military travels of E.6. Mary Henderson and husband Robert 

Inglis, the newly found family of B. Martha Henderson in Ireland, and in Appendix I, óOther Hendersons of 

Interest,ô with whom we have DNA matches and who had business dealings with our Hendersons.  Also 

worth a read is the topic of Pedigree Collapse.  In all, this publication includes 400+ photos, and primary 

documents.  We have deliberately opted not to include persons born after 1935, unless deceased, in order to  

prevent identify fraud of the living.  We have both had personal experience with our family records being 

high-jacked on the WWW.  If we have inadvertently included someone in your family who is living, and 

you wish to have their name and data removed, please notify us through the contact buttons at the end of 

this Introduction, and they will be promptly removed.   

 

 On the website http://www.booksbygwen.ca (left hand side of the Home Page), is a collection of 

approximately 400 Henderson records for the Caledon Estate, Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone and 

surrounding area, where our Hendersons lived before emigrating to North America.  Those records cover at 

least 6 generations of Hendersons, dating back to 1710 in Aghaloo Parish, and to 1685 in Tynan Parish, Co. 

Armagh.  Parts of Tynan Parish were also owned by the Earls of Caledon.  It would appear that our 

Hendersons may have only left Scotland for Ireland sometime between 1798 and 1803.  This is unusual, as 

the last organized large scale settlement scheme of Scots arriving in Ulster was between 1690 and 1710 ï

The Williamite migration.  This makes it questionable as to whether those other 400 odd records are 

relevant to our Henderson family.  However, it is surely more than coincidence that some of those other 

Hendersons lived in the same small townland of 398 acres (Kilmore, Aghaloo Parish), and in neighbouring 

townlands, as did our Hendersons.  It is probable that our Hendersons were following family from Scotland 

to Aghaloo Parish.  So those other records may come in handy, if and when we find DNA matches between 

our Hendersons and the other Hendersons of the Caledon Estate. 

 

           Please note that the publication, Pioneers of Inverness Township, Quebec: An Historical and 

Genealogical Story, 1800-1978, Gwen Barry, 1979, holds several errors, and so has been discontinued.  

Where no primary records existed, some of the information in that publication was based on second and 

third hand sources, a few of which turned out to be incorrect.  In particular, primary records have provided 

proof that the head of our family was not James George Henderson (married Mary Ann Edwards).  

Consequently, a good number of our Henderson cousinsô family trees associated with DNA matches on 

ancestryDNA.com and myheritageDNA.com have followed the wrong family in their trees. Where there are 

differences found between The Pioneers of Inverness Township and this 2021 publication, the latter is to be 

considered the more accurate publication.   

 

 The notes of Fred Ralston, provided in the 1960s, contained a lot of information on the earliest 

Henderson generations.  Those notes proved valuable in tracking down a few families.  However,  some of 

Fredôs information has recently been proven incorrect by primary records.  As an example of just how 

wrong secondary sources can be, an excerpt from Fred Ralstonôs notes follows.  The errors in Fredôs notes 

are in bold type.  

 

ñIn the latter 1890s, father [John Edwards Ralston] got a letter from Wilson Henderson, saying that his 

farm [in Old Gilroy, California] had come under irrigation.  He had converted the farm [160 acres] to an 

http://www.booksbygwen.ca/
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orchard and sold it at $1,000 an acre, which was a fortune in those days.  He was dying of throat cancer.  

His wife had died, and he was moving with his two young children to Portland, Oregon to be operated on.  

He made a young doctor there his childrenôs guardian, and administrator of his estate.  James 

Henderson wrote to Dad later that this doctor had married Wilsonôs daughter [E.5.2. Mary Ann 

Henderson].  The son [E.5.3. William James Henderson] went to college, got to be a mining engineer; went 

to Alaska, and quit writing his family.ò 

 

 Primary records have since been found showing that Wilson Henderson II died in 1880, so could 

not have written a letter in the latter 1890s.  At the time of his death, his estate was only worth about 

$3,100, which is no where near the $160,000 he should have had from the sale of his farm in Old Gilroy, 

California.  Wilsonôs wife had not died before Wilson moved to Oregon.  He did not move to Portland; he 

moved to Philomath, Benton Co., Oregon.  A doctor was not guardian of his children, or administrator of 

his estate.  Wilsonôs daughter Mary Ann did not marry a doctor.  The son William J. Henderson did not go 

to college, or become a mining engineer.  This is another good example of why to treat secondary 

information with caution.  That being said,  Fred Ralston was recording what he was told, and without his 

notes it would not have been possible to find out anything about E.5. Wilson Henderson II, and his family.  

Fredôs references to California, Oregon, and Alaska were good clues that led the way.  Lesson: Be very 

cautious with secondary data, but donôt throw the baby out with the bath water. 

  

        The publication titled The Anglo-Protestants of Megantic County: Repertory of births, marriages and 

burials, 1826-1991, Paul Vachon, Soci®t® g®n®alogique de la r®gion de lôAmiante, Thetford Mines, 

Publication No. 5, 1992, is not a primary source.  It was compiled by transcribing the original parish 

registers of a number of Protestant Churches of Megantic County, by a group of French-Canadians not 

familiar with English surnames.  It was a noble effort.  However, it contains a few transcription errors.  

Further, some of  the local English-speaking seniors of Megantic County assisted them by offering up extra 

information to go with the records, thus corrupting the transcriptions.  It even includes a few records that do 

not belong to the parish registers of Megantic County.  In some cases, the additional information provided is 

not correct.  We have opted to use primary records of baptisms, marriages, and burials, rather than using the 

Vachon publication, except as a cross-check. 

 

        Errors resulting from the use of secondary sources have crept into Family Trees on a myriad of 

websites, such as ancestry.com, My Heritage.com, and other such sites.  We have taken great pains to find 

primary records, or at least to obtain information directly from the family in question wherever possible.  

Many of the Family Trees found on genealogy websites give no sources for the information that they 

provide.  People copy from each others trees, and may be perpetuating errors.  Such family trees with no 

primary data support for them must be considered as secondary data only (not proof-not primary data).  

This does not apply to photocopies of actual official records found on such websites, which can be 

considered primary documents.  Our rigourous pursuit of primary records has resulted in reliable 

information for the most part.  Some of the primary documents were obtained from the websites of the 

Public Record Office of Northern Ireland, Scotlandôs People, the General Register Office, London, 

England, and by hiring a private professional genealogy researcher. 

 

 It is curious that people born in the 1700s and 1800s, did not seem to know their age, and/or their 

year of birth.  In some cases, their ages given in 4 successive census records, donôt advance by 10 years 

each time.  Some even aged backwards, and in some cases none of the ages given in those census records 

are correct.  Further, giving birth when in your forties, was fairly common in the 1800s, even as late as age 

48.  Some of our Hendersons settled in Megantic County, Quebec, which should not be confused with Lac 

Megantic, Quebec.  The former is about 40 km south-east of Quebec City.  The latter is a town near the US 

border with New Hampshire, and is not relevant to our Hendersons.  
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Suffixes, such as James Henderson I, James Henderson II etc. were not part of the official baptism records.  

The suffixes have been assigned to avoid confusion. 

 

 To avoid plagiarism, any duplication of this manuscript, in whole or in part, in other publications, 

family trees, websites etc., must include the following reference citation: Origins, Ancestry and 

Descendancy of the Hendersons of Megantic County, Quebec, Evans Books: Lower Sackville, Nova Scotia, 

2021, Gwen Barry and Dale Wright.  This publication is being made available at 

http://www.booksbygwen.ca.  In this way, you can download it for free (left hand side of the Home Page).   

 

 We anticipate receiving a few primary records of baptisms and/or marriages from PRONI 

once they are reopened after Covid.   We have been waiting for those PRONI records since 

November 2020, but have decided to wait no longer.   Should those records become available they will 

be uploaded as a separate Adendum page to the Henderson Manuscript at 

http://www.booksbygwen.ca .  Should any significant corrections be required they too will be 

included in the Adendum, so checking back every 6 months or so might be worthwhile.  However, we 

do not plan to add more peopleôs names and data to the manuscript, or to the Adendum Page, as that 

would be an endless task.  Given that the manuscript is an official publication with Legal Deposit to 

the National Library and Archives Canada, any changes to the publication would require issuing a 

whole new Revised Edition.  That could mean repeated Revised Editions everytime a new piece of 

information is acquired.   

 

 Many of the contributors of information have long since passed away, and others no longer have 

the same email addresses.  Because we have no way of contacting them, it is hoped that you will make 

members of your wider Henderson family aware of this publicationôs existence. 

 

 

Gwen Barry   Dale Wright  

Henderson Branch E  Henderson Branch C 

gwenb(at)eastlink.ca  duncansbrook(at)hotmail.com 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.booksbygwen.ca/
http://www.booksbygwen.ca/
mailto:gwenb(at)eastlink.ca
mailto:duncansbrook@hotmail.com
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THANK YOU 

       

  It would be remiss not to mention those who have contributed over the past 45 years to the 

information contained in this publication.  A special thanks is in order to Dale Wright, who has spent a 

good deal of time and effort tracking down primary documents.  He has been offering up Henderson data 

from the 1970s to the present time, including his full version of his own Branch C ï Thomas Henderson.  

Dale has also been instrumental in finding and interpreting DNA matches.  These have expanded our 

horizons, with new relations found that predate our own available data.  These can be found at Appendix I ï 

Other Hendersons of Interest. 

   

 In the 1970s, Helen (nee Jamieson) Harper of Toronto, previously of Megantic County, 

meticulously abstracted the burial records from the original parish registers and traveling missionary 

registers for all Protestant denominations for all of Megantic County, including the reference source for 

each record.  She absolutely refused to accept additional second-hand information from anyone.  Her burial 

records, while only a transcription, are considered reliable.  A few years later on, Helen, with a team of 

friends in Megantic County, also transcribed the information from the headstones for many of Megantic 

Countyôs cemeteries.  Mrs. Harperôs transcriptions of burials and cemetery headstones fill  two 3-inch ring 

binders.  She donated a copy to the Megantic County Historical Society, and we also have a copy.  Her 

work made it possible to find records for many of the Hendersons who died in Megantic County.  After 

Helenôs death, the late Marcella Wark, abstracted the information from headstones in those cemeteries not 

covered by Helen and her team.  Helen and Marcellaôs headstone transcriptions are available on the WWW.  

They deserve recognition for years of tireless work. 

 

Thanks also to: 

The late Dorothy Marshall Evans    The late Gladys Patton of Kinnearôs Mills,  

The late Donald Ralston of California   The late Fred Ralston of California 

The late Loren Ralston of Florida    The late Ray Miller of Minnesota 

The late Linda Hopp of Iowa    The late Uneva Thompson Henderson of Iowa 

The late Randall Hunter Ralston of California  The late Alma Lucille Flynn of Illinois 

The late Elie Eugene Hinton of Vermont   The late Irma Ehrich Boothby of California 

The late Thomas Borden Walker of N. H.   The late Mildred Learmonth of Quebec 

The late Dora Henderson of Quebec   The late Paul Douglas Henderson of Minnesota 

The late Beatrice Ruth Henderson of Minnesota  The late Helen Brown of Iowa     

The late Edith Patricia Rhymer Hutchins of Minnesota The late Violet Guy of Vermont 

The late Charlotte Little of Ontario   The late Edith Constance Little of Quebec 

The late Marion Williamson of N.H.   The late Muriel Winslow of Quebec 

The late Wilfred Wright of Ontario   The late Mary Lou Henderson of Minnesota 

The late Harold E. Yeager of Iowa   The late Minnie Long of California (& daughter) 

The late Hattie (Neal) Henderson of Quebec  The late William óWillieô Learmonth of Quebec 

The late Dr. Ellsworth Lyman Amadon of Vermont The late Forrest & Marion (Little) Wright of 

Quebec 

The late Vione Steedman of Alberta 

The late Lyman and Russell Marshall ïChurch Wardens of Christ Church, Lower Ireland, Inverness Tp. 

The late Margaret Dempsey of the Megantic County Historical Society 

 

Valerie Jobson of Alberta    Ella Leila Ralston of Iowa  

Carroll Miller of Minnesota    Mary Jane Browning of Florida 

Carol Ann Moon, Oregon    Patsy Wood of Minnesota 

Wayne McElravey of New Hampshire   Wayne McGillivray of New Hampshire 

Victoria Black of Ontario    Wilma Tajcnar of Alberta 

Susan Thomas of Washington State   Sylvia Hulce of Iowa 
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Len Esler of Alberta     Kay Fraser of Alberta 

Vivian Williams of Ontario    Judy Dohn of Ontario 

Sandra Mathias of Ontario    Linda Sacouman of Nova Scotia 

Lois Evans of Quebec     Ronald Guy of Vermont 

Brian Symonds of British Columbia    Wayne Long of California 

John óJackô Little of British Columbia   Herbert Lynn Marshall of Ontario 

Ann Cillessen of Ontario    Jack OôLeary of Mass. 

Allan Winston Wright of Ontario   Jeremy Brooks Dibbell of New York 

Donald Peters of California    The Old Library of Bishops University 

Paul Douglas Henderson of Minnesota   ancestry.com 

Diane Nolin of British Columbia   ancestry.dna.com  

Patricia Gwin of the US     The Quebec Family History Society 

Les Archives Nationales du Quebec   The Eastern Townships Research Centre 

The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints   The Public Record Office of Northern Ireland 

The National Archives of Canada    The Quebec Anglican Diocesan Archives 

  

    

     

 

And so, this publication is as much your familyôs work, as it is ours. 
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ABBREVIATIONS 

 

ADAQ  Anglican Diocesan Archives of Quebec 

b  born 

bapt  baptized 

B.C.  Province of British Columbia, Canada 

bur  buried 

c  circa (about - approximately) 

CCLI  Christ Church, Lower Ireland, (C of E), Inverness Tp., Megantic Co., Que. 

Co.  County 

C of E  Church of England (Anglican/Episcopal) 

C of I  Church of Ireland (Anglican/Episcopal) 

C of S  Church of Scotland 

d  died 

dy  died young 

ETRC  Eastern Townships Research Centre, Bishopôs University, Lennoxville, Que. 

HT  Holy Trinity, Maple Grove, C of E, Ireland Tp., Megantic Co., Que. 

 

IGI-LDS International Genealogical Index of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints 

(Mormon Church) 

 

m  married 

nm  never married 

No.  number 

Ont  Province of Ontario, Canada 

Presb.  Presbyterian 

PRONI  Public Record Office of Northern Ireland, Belfast 

Que.  Quebec 

Res.   Residence 

Tp.  Township 

WM  Wesleyan Methodist 
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                PART I 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 This publication is about WILLIAM HENDERSON I and wife ANNE EDWARDS, who lived and 

died on the Caledon Estate in Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone, Ireland, and their seven known children who 

lived on the Caledon Estate.  They were also possibly connected to Hendersons of Drumhillery Townland, 

Tynan Parish, County Armagh, which was also part of the Caledon Estate.  Five of their seven adult 

children emigrated to Inverness Township, Megantic County, Quebec. They came to Quebec at different 

times between 1827-1828, in 1833-34, and in 1847.  They are covered in detail in Part II, but are mentioned 

here, as they are also referred to in Part I.  The seven children of William Henderson I and Anne Edwards: 

 

Branch A. JAMES HENDERSON, b June 1798 in Scotland, then to Ireland, then  to Megantic Co. in 1827 

or 1828, then to Vermont about 1839, and married about 1845-46 in Vermont to MARGARET 

HAMILTON BALL ANTYNE. 

 

Branch B. MARTHA HENDERSON b c1800 or 1801 in Scotland or Ireland, married JAMES BOWMAN. 

They lived and died in Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone.  While they never left Ireland, some of their children 

emigrated to Vermont and Massatuchetts in the 1850s. 

 

Branch C. THOMAS HENDERSON, baptized 29 Jan 1804 in Ireland, to Megantic Co. in 1847, married in 

Ireland to AGNES óNancyô REID or REED. 

 

Branch D. WILLIAM EDWARD  HENDERSON II, born c1805-1806 in Ireland, to Megantic Co. in 1827 

or 1828, married SUSANNAH DAVIDSON at Quebec City. 

 

Branch E. WILSON HENDERSON I, b c1810-1812 in Ireland, to Megantic Co. in 1827 or 1828, married 

SUSANNAH MITCHELL about 1830 at Quebec City. 

 

Branch F. MARY ANN HENDERSON, b c1816-1819 in Ireland, to Megantic Co. about 1833 or 1834, 

married 1842 in Megantic County, Quebec to HENRY RALSTON II . 

 

Branch G. SARAH HENDERSON, baptized 1815 in Ireland.  Nothing is known about her, except that she 

didnôt come to Megantic Co., Quebec. 

 

Note: Where persons have been assigned a I or II after their name, such as William Henderson I and 

William Henderson II etc., the Roman numerals are of our own making in order to avoid confusion.  No 

one was baptized with a Roman numeral after their name.  Sr (senior) and Jr (junior) doesnôt work, since 

sometimes there is a number III, i.e. William I, William II, William III etc. 

 

 It would be hard for us to imagine what it must have felt like for the parents to know that they 

would never see their children again.  It was also undoubtably sad for the departing adult children, who 

knew that they would never see their parents or remaining siblings again.  During the Irish Potato Famine 

of 1847-1852, families held what were referred to as óAmerican Wakes,ô1 (and maybe óCanadian Wakesô), 

where the whole extended family and neighbours would gather together the night before a family memberôs 

departure, with much dancing and singing to keep up the spirits of all in attendance.  One would hope that 

our Hendersons did the same as each of the children departed.  The leaving was a kind of death for all 

concerned, even if they had hopes for a better life in North America.  The following is an example of a 

leaving activity organized for John Henderson of Caledon (relationship to our Hendersonôs unknown): 

 
1 óThe American Wake,ô in Irelandôs Own, Original Writing Ltd., Dublin, 2012, 138-143. 
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ñ20 May 1845: Farewell Dinner ï A few of the friends of Mr. John Henderson of Caledon, on the 

occasion of his being about to emigrate to America, gave him a farewell dinner on Friday evening, 

the 16th inst., at the Caledon Arms Hotel, and presented him with a handsome silver snuff-box, 

having a suitable inscription thereon. . .ò2 

 

ORIGINS OF THE SURNAME HENDERSON 

 The surname Henderson is thought to be Scandinavian and Pictish in origin.  Itôs original meaning 

was óson of Hender.ô  In the late 700s and 800s AD, Norwegian and Danish Vikings came as raiders and 

settlers to the extreme northwestern part of Scotlandôs mainland in Caithness and Sutherlandshire, to the 

Hebrides Islands, Orkney, and to the Shetland Islands off the north coast of Scotland.  It is thought that the 

Norwegians, with their long ships, could have reached the Shetland Islands within 24 hours.  The 

Norwegians formed by far the largest group of Vikings in Scotland.  Before the 700s AD, these areas in the 

north-west of Scotland had been settled by the Picts, a Celtic-speaking people, thought to have crossed over 

from Ireland to Scotland in the late BC period.   

 

 By the late 800s AD, a Norwegian Earldom was established in the northwestern area of mainland 

Scotland.3  Until 1468, this Earldom owed itôs allegiance to the King of  Norway.  The Shetland Islanders 

of today have almost identical proportions of Scandinavian matrilineal and patrilineal genetic ancestry, 

suggesting that the Shetland Islands were settled by both men and women Vikings in equal measure.4  In 

1582, in the Shetland Islands of Scotland, the King of Denmark gave the patronymic Henryson to all 

subsequent generates of William Magnusson.  Henryson soon became Henderson.  In the 1881 Census of 

Scotland, the largest number of Hendersons still appear with the greatest population density in Caithness, 

and the Shetland Islands, although by that time they could be found in lesser numbers in just about every 

shire of Scotland.  Those Hendersons who remained in Caithness became a part of Clan Gunn. 

 

These three groups (Picts, Norwegians, and Danes) intermarried in the early centuries in Scotland. 

In the year 1011, Eanruig Mor Mac Righ Neachtan (Big Henry, son of King Nectan, a Pict) arrived in 

Kinlochleven, and formed the beginning of the Hendersons of Glencoe in Argyllshire.5  They became part 

of Clan MacDonald. 

 

By perhaps the period of  the 1000s to 1100s, some of the Caithness and Shetland Island 

Hendersons/Henrysons migrated to Dumfries, and from there, perhaps a few hundred years later to The 

Scottish Border with England, around Liddesdale, Roxburghshire and Fifeshire.  The first Henderson 

arrived in Fifeshire in 1217.6  All  the Scottish Border and Fifeshire Hendersons became known as Clan 

Henderson.  

 

Four living descendants of the Inverness Tp., Quebec Hendersons have provided their ethnicity data from 

DNA testing, showing the following Scandinavian ethnicity: 

 

1. Living Henderson descendant- 3% Sweden/Denmark 

2. Living Henderson descendant - 4% Norway, Faroe Islands, Iceland 

3. Living Henderson descendant ï 2% Sweden/Denmark 

4. Living Henderson descendant - 3% Norway, Faroe Islands, Iceland, and 3% Sweden/Denmark 

 
2 The Armagh Guardian, 20 May 1845, retrieved 10 March 2003 at (see bottom of next page) 

http://www.newspaperabstracts.com/Ireland/armagh.html  
3 óBBC ï History ï Ancient Historyô at bbc.co.uk  
4 Shetland, at en.wikipedia.org  
5 The Henderson Clan Society website at https://www.clanhendersonsociety.com/  
6 The Henderson Clan Society website at https://www.clanhendersonsociety.com/   
 

http://www.newspaperabstracts.com/Ireland/armagh.html
https://www.clanhendersonsociety.com/
https://www.clanhendersonsociety.com/
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These small percentages of Scandinavian ethnicity would likely have originated in Scotland well before the 

year 1000 AD.   

 

In addition to the Scandinavian ethnicity cited above, all four of the above living Henderson 

descendants of Megantic County also have between 35-40% Scottish ethnicity.   In addition, DNA test 

results of several of todayôs living descendants of the Megantic County Hendersons show multiple matches 

with the Hendersons of Scotland ïconsiderably more so than anywhere else in the UK.  There is little doubt 

that our Hendersons came from Scotland.   

 

The Scandinavian Hendersons, and the inter-married Scandinavian-Pict-Scottish Hendersons spread out 

across Scotland, roughly as follows: 

 

By at least the 700s-800s AD 

 

Caithness, Sutherland, the Hebrides Isles, the Western Isles, Dumfries, and Galloway.  They became part of 

Clan Gunn. 

 

By the 1000s 

 

Argyllshire.  They became part of Clan MacDonald 

Dumfrieshire (from the Shetland Islands, Caithness and Sutherlandshire) 

 

By the 1200s 

 

Fifeshire.  In 1217, a Henryson/Henderson of Dumfries was granted a small piece of land at Fordell in 

Fifeshire.7  This was the early beginnings of Clan Henderson 

 

By at least the 1500s 

 

Perthshire, Kinross-shire, Moray, Clackmannanshire, Roxburghshire, Dunbartonshire, Lanarkshire, Angus 

and Stirlingshire 

 

By the 1700s 

 

Hendersons could be found in almost every shire of Scotland. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       

 

 

 

 
7 The genealogy of the Henderson Clan has been cobbled together from various Peerage publications. 
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COUNTIES/SHIRES OF SCOTLAND 

 

 
 

 

 

WHERE IN SCOTLAND DID OUR HENDERSON ANCESTORS ORIGINATE? 

 

According to clan histories, the Hendersons started out as Henrysons, partly of Scandinavian 

Viking stock in Caithness, in the extreme NW of Scotland.  One group of Henrysons moved southward 

from Caithness to Dumfrieshire for perhaps 100-200 years, then moved on to Fifeshire, with the first 

Henryson arriving in Fifeshire in the year 1217.  A significant preponderance of DNA test matches, 

between four descendants of the Hendersons of Inverness Tp., Megantic County with other Henderson 

descendants from elsewhere in North America, the UK, and Australia point to Fifeshire as the probable 

place of origin of the Henderson descendants of Inverness Tp., Quebec (after leaving Caithness and 
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Dumfries).  The genealogy of the Henrysons/Hendersons of Fifeshire can be found at Appendix IV.  They 

lived in Fordell, Dunferline, Inverkeithing, and the surrounding area of Fifeshire.   

 

After 300 years of the familyôs expansion in Fifeshire, in 1493 James Henryson (1450-1513) was 

appointed Kingôs Advocate.  He received an annual fee from the king of £40 annually.  In 1498, this annual 

fee was converted to a life-time pension, or until the king provided him with lands to the same value.  In 

todayôs money, £40 would be worth  £26,793.  In 1493, this annual salary could have bought 28 horses, or 

105 cows, and was the equivalent of 4 years wages of a skilled tradesman.  James Henryson was an Arts 

graduate of the University of Paris; became a burgess of Edinburgh by right of his father Robert, who 

himself was described as ña man of distinction in the reign of King James III of Scotland.ò  In addition to 

being Kingôs Advocate, James was the Town Clerk of Edinburgh, and ran a private law practice serving 

aristocratic clients and institutions all over Scotland.  His private law practice was more financially 

lucrative than what he earned as Kingôs Advocate.8   

 

He purchased large tracts of land at Fordell, Fifeshire, expanded an existing fort as Fordell Castle, 

and became 1st Baron Fordell.  His castle became the seat of the Henderson Barons and subsequent 

Baronets.  They were Royalist supporters during the Cromwellian War in Scotland, but managed to keep 

their titles after Cromwell of Englandôs conquest of Scotland, although demoted to Baronets.  Titles went 

out of Henderson hands in 1833, when the 6th Baronet Fordell, Robert Bruce Henderson, died without a son 

to inherit title.  Other branches of the family continued to live on the estate until it was sold in 1953 by 

descendant John Hampden Mercer-Henderson, 8th Earl of Buckinghamshire, England.  In 1999, after 

successive non-Henderson owners, the estate was sold for £3,850,000 to Stuart Simpson, 17th Baron 

Fordell, making it the fifth-highest priced home ever sold in Scotland.  It remains a private residence and is 

a category A listed building.  Fordell is still the seat of the modern day Clan Henderson, whose current 

chieftain lives in California. 

 

The Hendersons, like other families of the aristocracy, would have hired professional genealogists 

to trace their family tree back as far as possible, using archival material, dating back to the 1000s in some 

cases.  Archival material might have included such items as Subsidy Rolls, Muniments, historic municipal 

documents, clan histories, each successive Kingôs Close Rolls, and Patent Rolls, Calendar of State Papers, 

Civil Lists, ancient Petitions, and Calendars of Inquisition etc.  The results of genealogical research 

provided the proof required to inherit titles and to acquire Coats of Arms.  The information then found itôs 

way into various Peerage books.  Those books and other reliable sources were used to build the genealogy 

of the Hendersons of Fifeshire found in Appendix IV, but it is possible that a few errors have crept in.  

Appendix IV is incomplete, lacking inclusion of the earliest generations due to a sparsity of records, of 

many female Hendersons, and lacking inclusion of many untitled descendants who were presumably of 

little interest  to the compilers of the Peerage Books. Given that our Hendersons landed in Ireland as simple 

tenant farmers, our descent from the Hendersons of Fordell was probably way down in the pecking order. 

 

Those who gained and inherited titles tended not to emigrate.  The younger sons and daughters, 

who did not inherit titles, often married into other aristocratic families of Scotland and England, thus 

gaining titles in that way.  They too tended not to emigrate.  Had they emigrated, their title and privileges 

 
8 James Henryson and the Origins of the Office of Kingôs Advocate in Scotland, by John Finlay, in The Scottish 

Historical Society Review, Vol. 79, No. 20 (April 2000), pp. 17-38, retrieved 26 Nov 2020 at JTSOR. 
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would have been lost not only to them, but to their oldest son.  So almost all, if not all, the Hendersons of 

Fifeshire that did emigrate to England, Ireland, the U.S.A., Canada, and Australia were the younger sons 

and daughters. They were still aristocrats, but of the Laird and Gentleman variety.  To their new country, 

they brought money, education, and experience in business and in the military.  Some of the Henderson 

plebes of Fifeshire who did not emigrate had moved to other counties of Scotland by the late 1600s-early 

1700s.  

  

We have data on DNA matches of four descendants of the Hendersons of Inverness Township, 

sufficient to demonstrate a strong link to Fifeshire.  However, Appendix IV and the DNA matches found in 

the Table below are not complete enough to be able to make a direct link with our William Henderson I of 

Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone, born c1772 (married Anne Edwards), and his children of Branches A to G.   

Although William Henderson I moved from Lanarkshire, Scotland to Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone, Ireland 

sometime between 1798 and 1803, Lanarkshire was not where the family originated.  

 

Many of our Fifeshire DNA matches are with Henderson descendants whose ancestor emigrated 

early to the 13 British Colonies of Virginia (settled 1607), Plymouth, Mass. (1620), New York (1626), 

Mass. Bay (1630), Maryland, Rhode Island and Connecticut (1636), New Hampshire and Delaware (1638), 

North Carolina (1653), South Carolina (1663), New Jersey (1664), Pennsylvania (1682), and Georgia 

(settled 1732).   Emigrants from Scotland to the 13 British colonies of America. were not well-represented.  

By 1700, they made up only 3% of all emigrants to America; by 1755 - 4%, and by 1775 - 6.6%.  By 

extension, the percentages from any one shire of Scotland, and then for any one surname would probably 

have been less than 1%.  Before 1776, people from England, Wales and African slaves combined made up 

80% of all emigrants to the 13 British Colonies.9  Hence, Henderson emigrants to the 13 British Colonies 

were few in number, with most Hendersons probably coming from Fifeshire before 1776. 

 

Inverness Henderson descendant No 1: DNA shared with Fifeshire Hendersons included 26 matches, the 

highest being 20 cM (centimorgan = length of a DNA segment).  This represents approximately 5th to 8th 

cousins.  Person No. 1 had 30 other DNA matches spread over 10 other counties of Scotland, with the 

highest county (other than Fifeshire) showing only 6 matches. 

 

Inverness descendant  No. 2: DNA matches shared with Henderson descendants of Fifeshire included 34 

matches, the highest being 30 cM and 27 cM.  This amount of cM represents approximately 5th to 8th 

cousins. 

 

Inverness descendant No. 3:  DNA shared with Henderson descendants of Fifeshire included 24 matches, 

the highest being 17 cM.  Forty other matches were spread over 17 other counties in Scotland (other than 

Fifeshire), the highest number of matches in any other county of Scotland (other than Fifeshire) was 5 

matches. 

 

Inverness descendant No. 4: DNA shared with Henderson descendants of Fifeshire included 10 matches, 

the highest being 15 cM.  The number of matches in other counties of Scotland was not assessed. 

 

As a general rule, according to ancestry.com DNA testing, 20 cM to 30 cM of DNA equals approximately 

5th to 8th cousins.  Anything less than 20 cM, would be 8th cousins and beyond. 

 
9 Dates for the settlement of the thirteen Colonies: Wikipedia  
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The Table below, is a summary of the DNA matches for the three Henderson descendants of 

Inverness Tp. with other persons whose DNA is traced back to Fifeshire.  A few of those matches have not 

strictly followed the  Fifeshire Family Tree, as compared with the tree in Appendix IV.  A few have their 

tree linked to the wrong William or John etc., or have skipped a generation here and there.  Where possible, 

we have corrected these errors using Appendix IV as the guideline (which may have its own errors).  That 

being said, there is little doubt that the American Hendersons with whom we are a DNA match came from 

Fifeshire, and were descendants of the Barons and Baronets of Fordell, or of their children.   

 

A Book Review by an unnamed reviewer on the publication óAncestry and Descendants of 

Lieutenant John Henderson of Greenbrier county: Virginia, 1650-1900, from data collected and Arranged 

by His Great-Great Grandson, Joseph Lyon Miller, M.D. Richmond, Virginia,ô  provides a few bits of 

information from the publication on the Hendersons of Fordell and Virginia.  The Reviewer reports that 

William Henderson, the son of Sir John Henderson [of Fordell, Fifeshire], married in 1705 to Margaret 

Bruce.  Three of Williamôs sons emigrated to Virginia, namely John, James, and Samuel, (See the 

Hendersons of Fifeshire family tree in Appendix IV for the 2 Johns, William, James, and Samuel.).  James, 

b 1708, d 1784, served as a Lieutenant in the French and Indian War ïKing Georgeôs War (1744-1748), 

designed to remove Franceôs influence in North America.  The reviewer notes that the above publication 

was compiled from old wills, deeds, letters and other primary documents.  The entire publication, he says 

ñis a thoroughly good example of proper genealogical work.ò 

 

As further proof of the American connection with the Hendersons of Fordell, Fifeshire, Colonel 

John Henderson of Mason Co., Virginia named his Virginia home óFordell.ô  He was a member of the 

Virginia Legislature for 10 years, and was a Colonel in the War of 1812.10   And Archibald Henderson of 

Chapel Hill, Orange County, North Carolina also named his home óFordell.ô  He held two doctorates; was 

Professor of Mathematics at the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill in 1926, and was the biographer 

of Bernard Shaw.  He was the son of John Steele Henderson (1848-1916) of Poplar Grove, N.C, one of the 

largest land owners of North Carolina.11  John Steele Henderson was a member of the General Assembly, 

US Congressman, lawyer, and descendant of General John Steele, Comptroller of the US Treasury under 

Washington, Adams, and Jefferson.  Such distinguished, and accomplished men knew their ancestry well, 

and would not have arbitrarily named their homes óFordell.ô 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
10 óCarter Genealogy,ô by Jos. L. Miller, in The William and Mary Quarterly: Vol 20, No. 1 (July 1911), pp. 38-61, 

retrieved 26 Nov 2000 at JTSOR. 
11 óMencken and Odum: The Dutch Uncle and the South,ô by Joseph L. Morrison, in The Virginia Quarterly Review, 

Vol. 42, No. 4 (Autumn 1966), pp. 601-615, retrieved 26 Nov 2020 at JTSOR. 
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DNA MATCHES OF FOUR INVERNESS TP. HENDERSON DESCENDANTS WITH FIFESHIRE 

HENDERSON DESCENDANTS of N.A, the U.K, and AUSTRALIA  

(ordered by the amount of DNA cMs highest to lowest) 

Inverness Tp. 

DNA           Henderson           

cM Match With a Descendant of a Fifeshire Henderson    Descendants  

#1,2,3,4 

30 Thomas Alexander H. b 1653, descendant to Virginia (not in Appendix IV) 2 

27 Elizabeth H. b 1607 (not in Appendix IV)     2 

20 Thomas H. b 1653 Fife, d 1709 Virginia (descendant of 3rd Baron Fordell) 1 

18 Richard H. b 12 May 1661 Virginia (great-grandson of 4th Baron Fordell)  1 

17 Thomas H. b 1653 Fife, d 1709 Virginia (descendant of 3rd Baron Fordell) 1 

17 James H. 3rd Baron Fordell, b 1540 Fife, d 1612 Connecticut   1 

17 John H. b c1400 Fife (probably person 7.2. in Appendix IV)   3 

17 William H. b 1765 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

17 John H. b 1626 Fife (probably 1st Baronet)     3 

16 William H. b 1676, m Jane King (not in Appendix IV)    3 

 

16 Helen H. b 1649 Leuchar, Fife, d Dunferline, Fife. Descendants   1 

 to Georgia (not in Appendix IV) 

 

16 Agnes Henderson b 1649 Leuchar, Fife, d Dunferline, Fife, descendants  1 

 to Australia (not in Appendix IV) 

 

16 Henderson of Fifeshire (unlocked tree) (not in Appendix IV)   4 

15 William H. b 1616 Fife, d Virginia (grandson of 4th Baron Fordell)  2 

15 William H. b 1697 m Susan Kearns (not in Appendix IV)   3 

15 John H. b 9 Feb 1706, d 1766 in Virginia     4 

14 William H. b 1676, m Jane King (not in Appendix IV)    3 

14  Thomas H. 1572-1670, b & d Fife, (brother of 4th Baron Fordell)   1 

14 Robert H. b Beath, Fife, d Dunferline, Fife (not in Appendix IV)   1 

 

13 William H. b 1707 Aberdeenshire, to Virginia (great-grandson of James   1  

Henderson, brother of 1st Baronet Fordell 

 

13 Margaret H. 1646-1744, born Fife, d Scotland (not in Appendix IV  1 

13 William H. b 1834 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

13 Margaret H. b 1766 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

12 James Henderson b 1545, 3rd  Baron Fordell     3 

12 Sir John H. b 1564, 4th Baron Fordell      3 

12 William H. b 1515 Fife, d 1547 Edinburgh (son of 2nd Baron Fordell,  1 

 George H. m Marion Scott -Lady in Waiting to Mary Queen of Scots.  

 Marion was the daughter of Sir Walter Scott. 
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12 Beatrice H. b 1761 Fife, d Barnet, Vermont (gr-great granddaughter of  1 

 James H. who was the brother of 1st Baronet) 

 

12 Henry H. 1696-1746, m Margaret Bruce (great-grandson of  4th Baron  1 

12 Thomas H. b 1653 Fife, d 1709 Virginia (descendant of 3rd Baron Fordell) 1 

12 Florence H. b 1718 Fife, d 1764 Virginia (not in Appendix IV)   2 

12 Susannah H. b 1738 (not in Appendix IV)     2 

12 Katherine H. b c1693 (not in Appendix IV)     2 

12 John H. b 1661 Fordell, son John d Virginia     4 

12 John H. b 1660 Dunferline, Fife        4 

12 David H. b1560 Dunferline, Fifeshire (not in Appendix IV)   4 

12 John H. b 1638, Torryburn, Fife (not in Appendix IV)    4 

11 Deborah H. b 1515 Fife (daughter of 2nd Baron Fordell)    3 

11 Janet H. b 1692 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

11 William H. b 1595 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

11 Helen H. b 1650 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

11  John H. b 1659 Mid Lothian (son of James H. b 1629 Fife, m 1664  1 

 Marion Scott (not in Appendix IV) 

 

11 James Archibald H. b 1708 Fife, d 1784 Virginia (not in Appendix IV  1 

10 Thomas H. 1572-1670, b & d Fife, (brother of 4th Baron Fordell)   1 

10 Thomas H. b 1653 Fife, d 1709 Virginia (descendant of 3rd Baron Fordell) 2 

10 Thomas H. b 1653 Fife, d 1709 Virginia (descendant of 3rd Baron Fordell) 1 

10 Thomas H. b 1653 Fife, d 1709 Virginia (descendant of 3rd Baron Fordell) 1 

10 William H. b 1764 Fife, d 1825 Fife (not in Appendix IV)   1 

10 Christian H. b 1655 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

10 Grizel H. b 1571 (sister of 4th Baron ?)      3 

10 John H. b 1680 Fife (3rd Baronet?)      3 

10 Henderson of Fifeshire (unlocked tree) (not in Appendix IV)   4 

10 Henderson of Fifeshire (unlocked tree) (not in Appendix IV)   4 

9 Margaret H. b 1753 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

9 Agnes H. b 1682 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

9 William H. b 1670 Fife (2nd Baronet?)      3 

9 John H. b 1639 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

9 Jean H. b1768 Fife (not in Appendix IV)      3 

9 Ann H. b 1600 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     3 

9 Henderson from Carnock, Fife to Perthshire (not in Appendix IV)  1 

9 John H. b 1605, 5th Baron Fordell      4 

9 Agnes H. b 1739 Fife (not in Appendix IV)     4 

8 Alexander Kirkpatrick 1714-1791, b & d Drumcondra House, Dublin  1 

 (grandson of 1st Baronet Fordell), or with Kirkpatrickôs wife Ester Henderson 

 b 1730 Kildare, Ireland 

8 John H. 1564-1618, 4th Baron Fordell      2 

8  Sir John H., 1605-1650, 5th Baron Fordell, Knighted by King Charles  2 
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8 1st Baron Fordell 1450-1513       1 

8 Ann H. b c1640 Mid Fife (sister of 1st Baronet?)      2 

8 William H. b 1683 Fife, d 1745  Virginia (grandson of James Henderson,  2   

 who was the brother of the 1st Baronet) 

8 John H. 1655-1728, born Ferry port on Craig, Fife (not in Appendix IV)  4 

8 Henderson of Fifeshire (unlocked tree) (not in Appendix IV)   4 

Some of the above matches are recorded in the Hendersons of Fifeshire Family Tree in Appendix IV.  

There can be little doubt about our origins being the Hendersons of Fifeshire.  This can be vividly seen in 

the Fifeshire Hendersons Family Tree at Appendix IV. 

 

WHEN DID OUR HENDERSONS LEAVE SCOTLAND FOR IRELAND? 

 

Head of the Family: William Henderson I and Anne Edwards   

-According to their son Branch A James Hendersonôs US Citizenship Declaration of May 27, 1856 in 

Vermont, he (James) was ña Scotsman, born June 1798,  Lightburn, Cambuslang.ò  This is in Lanarkshire, 

Scotland.  Lightburn is now a suburb of Glasgow.  It is exactly where James Hendersonôs wife Margaret 

Hamilton Ballantyne was born in 1810, although they married in Vermont. This can be considered a 

primary record, declared by James himself.  The record can be found a few pages onward. 

 

- William Henderson I and Anne Edwardôs son Thomas was born in Kilmore, Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone, 

and was baptized on 29 January 1804 at the C of I in Caledon, Aghaloo Parish. County Tyrone12  In the 

baptism record, his parents were ñWilliam and Anne Henderson of Kilmore.ò  It can be deduced that the 

family left Scotland for Ireland sometime between Jameôs birth in June 1798 in Scotland and Thomasô birth 

in January 1804 in Ireland.  The year 1803 would likely be the latest year of departure for Ireland.   

 

-The only record found that indicates the birth place of William Henderson I and Anne Edwards is as 

follows:  1891 Census for Inverness Tp., Megantic Co., Quebec: Their daughter, Branch F Mary Ann 

Henderson Ralston reported ñfather born Ireland, mother born Ireland.ò 

 

Census data is notoriously unreliable for places of birth.  Born Ireland as in the above census record, can 

only be considered a secondary record, and not proof positive.  Mary Ann was the only one of her Inverness 

Tp. siblings still living in 1891, and that was the first census year for Megantic County in which the 

birthplace of parents was included.  While James citizenship declaration can be considered a primary 

record, (declared by him personally), his baptism record, if ever found, would be the best proof.  The 

following pertains to the seven children of William Henderson I and Anne Edwards: 

 

Branch A: James Henderson 

-James was born in Lightburn, Cambuslang, Lanarkshire, Scotland in June 1798, according to his US 

citizenship declaration. 

-1850 Census for Bethel, Vermont, James is recorded as born in Scotland 

-1860 Census for Bethel, Vermont, James is recorded as born in Ireland 

 

-1866: James Hendersonôs death record at Westmore, Vermont: ñdied 8 Sept,1866, age 69 years, 4 months 

and 11 days, Town: Westmore. Cause of death: congestion of liver, birthplace Ireland.ò13  The age at death 

on the gravestone provides an alternate birth date of April 28, 1797. 

 

 
12 Source for baptism record: PRONI MIC 583/25 for St Johnôs Church of Ireland, Caledon, Aghaloo Parish, Co. 

Tyrone. 
13 Death record from Vermont State Archives. 
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In effect, two records say James was born in Scotland and two say he was born in Ireland.  The reliability of 

census records is only as good as whoever answered the door when the census taker came, and then 

answered the census takerôs questions.  As for James death record, it certainly was not James himself who 

said that he was born in Ireland.  It was probably Jamesôs sister Branch B Martha Henderson Bowmanôs 

son Henry Bowman who provided Jamesôs place of birth.  At the time of Jamesô death in 1866, James was 

in the care of Henry Bowman at Westmore.   

 

Branch B. Martha Henderson, b c1800-1801 

-1880 Census: East Boyer, Iowa for Marthaôs daughter Eliza Bowman Ralston, ñmother born Ireland.ò 

-1880 Census: East Boyer, Iowa for Marthaôs son Henry Bowman, says ñmother born Scotland.ò 

-1900 Census: East Boyer, Iowa, Marthaôs son Henry Bowman, says ñmother born Ireland.ò 

-1880 Census: Hayes, Iowa, Marthaôs son Wilson Bowman, says ñmother born Scotland.ò 

-1900 Census: West Medford, Oregon, Marthaôs son Wilson Bowman, says ñmother born Ireland.ò 

-1909 California death registration for Wilson Bowman, says ñMother Martha Henderson born Ireland.ò   

 

In all, 2 say Martha born in Scotland, and 4 say born in Ireland.  Itôs anybodyôs guess.  The age on Marthaôs 

death record indicates that she was born in 1800 or 1801 (between James, born 1798 in Scotland and 

Thomas born 1804 in Ireland).  It is not known if she was born in Scotland or Ireland. 

 

Branch C. Thomas Henderson, b 1804 

- 29 Jan 1804 - Baptism of Thomas, son of William and Anne Henderson of Kilmore.14  (Aghaloo Parish)  

-1861 Census for Inverness, Thomas born Ireland  

-1871 Census for Inverness, Thomas born Ireland  

 

Branch D. William Edward Henderson II  (born between 1804 and 1806) 

-1861 Census for Inverness, William born Ireland  

-1871 Census for Inverness, William born Ireland  

 

Branch E. Wilson Henderson I (b c1810-12) 

-1861 Census for Inverness, Wilson born Ireland  

-1871 Census for Inverness, Wilson born Ireland  

 

Branch F. Mary Ann Henderson Ralston (b c1813-1819) 

-1861 Census for Inverness, Mary Ann born Ireland  

-1871 Census for Inverness, Mary Ann born Ireland  

-1881 Census for Inverness, Mary Ann born Ireland  

-1891 Census for Inverness, Mary Ann born Ireland   

 

Branch G. Sarah Henderson (b 1815): 

-13 Aug 1815 - Baptism of Sarah, dau of William and Anne Henderson of Kilmore.15 (Baptized at the C of 

I, Caledon, Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone, Ireland).  

Given the above information, it would seem that our Hendersons may have left Scotland for the Caledon 

Estate, Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone, Ireland after June 1798 and before January 1804.  It seems 

reasonable to assume that James Henderson would not have lied about his place of birth, and in such a 

specific manner, on such an important document as a US Citizenship Declaration.  See the US Citizen 

document, and the 1909 death registration of Wilson Bowman, for the birthplace of his mother Branch B; 

Martha Henderson, which follow.  

 
14 Baptism record: PRONI MIC 583/25 for St Johnôs Church of Ireland, Caledon, Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone. 
15 Baptism record: PRONI MIC 583/25 for St Johnôs Church of Ireland, Caledon, Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone. 



22 

 

 

                   
       1909 Death of Wilson Bowman, showing his mother Martha Henderson born Ireland.   

 

The location given for Martha Hendersonôs place of birth (above) could have been Omagh town, County 

Tyrone, (which is not in Aghaloo Parish), or County Armagh, Ireland, or the Civil Registration District or 

Union of Armagh, which included Aghaloo Parish.   
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JAMES HENDERSONôS US CITIZENSHIP DECLARATION 
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It cannot be entirely discounted that William Henderson I and wife Anne Edwards were only visiting 

Scotland at the time their son James was born there in 1798.  There are a number of references in the 

records for Ulster Province of Ireland where people travelled from Ireland to Scotland, mainly on business 

associated with the linen trade, and perhaps to visit family in Scotland.  Alternately, if our Hendersons left 

Scotland for the Caledon Estate, Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone, Ireland between 1798-1803, they may 

have been following family already settled on the Caledon Estate.  They could have been following 

Henderson or Edwards relations, or both.  There are a large number of records for Hendersons, and a few 

for Edwards on the Caledon Estate dating back to 1685 in the case of Tynan Parish, Co. Armagh and to 

1710 in the case of Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone.  Their close proximity to our Hendersons is surely more 

than just coincidence.   

 

We know that our Hendersons were living in Kilmore Townland in January 1804 when Branch D Thomas 

was born, and in 1815 when Branch G Sarah was born.  Various other records also show our family at 

Kilmore and elsewhere in Aghaloo Parish, as follows: 

  

1804, 29 Jan: baptism at the C of I Aghaloo Parish of Thomas, son of William and Ann Henderson of 

Kilmore  (Branch C).16    

1815, 13 Aug: baptism at the C of I Aghaloo Parish of Sarah, daughter of William and Ann Henderson 

of Kilmore.   (Branch G).17   

-1825: Tithe Applotment for Kilmore Townland , Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone - William Henderson, 20 

acres, 1 rood, 37 perches.  (The Head of our Family?) 

-1831, 4 Oct: Baptism at Minterburn Presbyterian, Wilson, son of James Bowman and Martha 

Henderson of Tullyremon, Aghaloo Parish.  (Branch B)18 

-1837: Tithe Applotment for Kilmore Townland , Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone - William Henderson. 

(Head of our Henderson Family?) 

-1833, Nov: Lease between Thomas Henderson and the Earl of Caledon for land in Kilmore  Townland. 

On the overleaf, is written ñI hereby surrender this lease to the Earl of Caledon for good and valuable 

considerations.ò Signed by Thomas Henderson X his mark, ñbeing truly read by me, John Core, 1 June 

1834.ò  The lot in Kilmore was 29 acres, 1 rood, 15 perches. Rent: £18. Tenure: 21 years.19  (Branch C) 

-1834, June 1: Lease for 1 life or 21 years, rent: £18 yearly including fees. Earl of Caledon to Thomas 

Henderson of Kilmore, Co. Tyrone for 29 acres, 1 rood, 15 perches at Kilmore.20  Thomas appears to 

have decided to stay in Ireland after all.  Perhaps it was decided that Thomasô sister Mary Ann should 

come to Canada first.  She may have arrived about 1833 or 1834.  Another explanation for Thomas 

renewing his lease was that he, being the only son left in Kilmore (as far as we know), should remain to 

care for his aging parents, who would have been in their 60s by 1834.   

 

 
16 PRONI MIC 583/25 for St Johnôs Church of Ireland, Caledon, Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone. 

17 PRONI MIC 583/25 
18 Josephine McBride, transcribed from the PRONI microfilm for Minterburn 
19 PRONI D.2433/A/1/23/16  and D2433/A/1/23/17. 

20 Source: PRONI: D2433/A/1/23/16, on the PRONI website ï on-line catalogue.  
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-1836, 19 June: Baptism of Ann, daughter of Thomas and Ann [sic] Henderson of Kilmore.21 Thomasô 

wife was Agnes óNancyô Reid, not Ann.  Thomasô daughter Anne married in Inverness Tp. to Richard 

Wright who came from ñnear Kilmore,ò as per the Wright family Bible, which was in the possession of 

Forrest and Marion Wright in Inverness (Branch C). 

-1838, 15 April: Baptism at Minterburn Presbyterian, Dyan Townland, Aghaloo Parish, William, son of 

Thomas Henderson and Nancy Reid of Kilmore. (Branch C) 

-1848: 1 April, Baptism at Minterburn Presbyterian of Martha, daughter of Thomas Henderson and 

Nancy Reid of Kilmore (Branch C).  Transcribed by Josephine McBride from the PRONI microfilm.  

Josephine notes that the date of this baptism may have actually been somewhere between 1839 and 1842.  

The baptism year is probably 1840, not 1848. 

-1843, 11 March: Baptism at Minterburn Presbyterian of Mary, daughter of Thomas Henderson and 

Nancy Reid of Kilmore (Branch C). 

 

EARLIEST RECORDS FOR OTHER HENDERSONS FOUND IN AGHALOO PARISH, CO. TYRONE: 

 

-1710, June 12: Thomas Hall and Robert Henderson were paid 14 shillings for killing six old foxes 

and two cubs [in Aghaloo Parish].22  

 
-1737, June 3: John Henderson paid 1 shilling, 4 duckets for making hooks for the church gate.23  This is 

work that a blacksmith might have done. 

1737, Oct. 4: John Henderson appointed Church Warden, C of I, Caledon, Aghaloo Parish.24  

1749: The Last Will and Testament of John Henderson Sr. of Caledon is dated 29 May 1749.25  The 

contents of the Will have not survived.  

1752, May 14:  A lease of May 1773: Thomas Henderson, smith of Caledon, leased from the 6th Earl of 

Cork and Orrery land in Caledon Village, a tenement and garden on west side of the lane leading to the 

church, and ½ a field. The lot was 73 feet x 320 feet.  Rent was £1.16s, Lease signed by Thomas X 

Henderson (his mark).26 Note: The property was referred to as ñthen in the possession of Thomas 

Henderson, Galbraith Henderson and John Henderson, said lease bearing date of 14 May 1752.ò 

1773, June 1:  A lease of 1825, April 8: Margaret Henderson, the widow of William Henderson, leased to 

James Henderson, merchant of Caledon, for one year, the tenements on the west side of Church Hill, 

which was in the possession of Margaretôs late husband William Henderson, ñshemaker.ò [shoemaker?]  

Note: The lease mentions a lease of 1 June 1773 by the Earl of Cork and Orrery to Galbraith Henderson, 

and John Henderson both blacksmiths. And since Galbraith Henderson died intestate, the lease later went 

 
21 PRONI MIC 583/25 for St Johnôs Church of Ireland, Caledon, Aghaloo Parish. 

22 óVestry Book of the Parish of Aghalow With an Account of the Family of Hamilton of Caledon, 1691-1807,ô by 

John J. Marshall, Dungannon: The Tyrone Printing Company, 1935, p.14 
23 Vestry Book of the Parish of Aghalow With an Account of the Family of Hamilton of Caledon, 1691-1807,ô by John 

J. Marshall, p.18. 
24 óVestry Book of the Parish of Aghalow With an Account of the Family of Hamilton of Caledon, 1691-1807,ô by 

John J. Marshall, p.24. 
25  PRONI Wills Index, on the PRONI website  
26 PRONI: D.2433/A/1/62/6. 
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to John Henderson, and William Henderson and Richard Henderson.27  These tenements came to be 

known as óHendersonôs Row.ô 

1825 Tithe Applotment for the Townland of Kilmore , Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone:28  

  

William Henderson, 20 acres, 1 rood, 37 perches  (Our William who married Anne Edwards?) 

James Henderson - Representative John Brown, 2 acres, 2 roods, 33 perches 

 James Henderson - Representative Hugh Wilson, 14 acres 

 Joseph Wright Senior, 6 acres, 1 rood, 28 perches and 3 acres, 2 roods, 8 perches 

 Joseph Wright Junior, 6 acres, 20 perches 

 Joseph Wright Junior -representative David Wright 4 acres, 2 roods, 38 perches 

 John Wright 13 acres, 3 roods, 6 perches 

 Frank Wright  - Rep David Wright, 12 acres, 3 roods, 27 perches 

 William Wright 22 acres, 31 perches 

 Mary Reed, widow, 9 acres, 1 rood, 8 perches 

 

The 1825 baptism at the C of I, Caledon of Wilson Henderson, son of William and Elizabeth 

Henderson of Kilmore.  William was recorded as a weaver.29  This family is surely related to our 

Hendersons of Kilmore, who also named a son Wilson. 

1829: James Henderson is on the Freeholders Register for County Tyrone, at Kilmore 30  (Possibly the 

uncle, or grandfather of our 7 siblings of Branches A to G. 

1830, Sept. 10: Renewal lease by the Earl of Caledon, to James Henderson of Kilmore, for a tenement 

and premises in Caledon.31  This record connects the Hendersons of Kilmore to the Hendersons of the 

tenements on Church Hill.  (This could possibly be the uncle, or grandfather of our 7 Henderson siblings.  

It is definitely not our James (Branch A), as he was in Quebec by 1827 or 1828 at the latest.  In 1828 he 

was a witness to a Davidson marriage at Quebec City. 

1830, Nov. 26: Lease of tenement and premises in Caledon for 3 lives, renewable forever. Rent £1.16.3 

per annum and fees. Lease between the Rt. Hon. Dupre Earl of Caledon, and James Henderson, grocer 

of Kilmore , Co. Tyrone, and Thomas Henderson, farmer of Caledon, and John Henderson, blacksmith of 

Caledon, and Charles Norris of Caledon, for land in Caledon.32  They are both essentially the same, except 

that PRONI: D847/5/52 provides more detail.  The information from both records has been merged. These 

records connect the Hendersons of Kilmore to the tenements in Caledon, via James Henderson of 

Kilmore.  (Possibly the uncle, or grandfather of our 7 siblings) 

1845: 17 Feb, baptism at Minterburn Presbyterian of Eliza, daughter of James Flanagan and Elizabeth 

Henderson of Kilmore. 33 (twin?)  This family is surely related to our Hendersons of Kilmore. Elizabeth 

could have been a younger sister to our 7 Henderson brothers and sisters, but no proof is available. 

 
27 PRONI D.2433/A/1/427. 
28http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.com/~tyrone/parishes/tithe-applotment/t-a-aghaloo.html   
29 Record provided by Josephine McBride 
30 Freeholderôs Register for Co. Tyrone, printed in The Strabane Morning Post, 19 May 1829 to 12 June 1832, 

transcribed by Faye Logue from microfilms of the newspaper which were purchased from the British Library, 

retrieved 29 Jan 2007 at http://www.freepages.genealogy.com/~cotyroneireland/newspaper/freeholderreg.html 
31 PRONI D847/5/50, on the PRONI website ïon line catalogue. 
32 PRONI: D313/127, and PRONI: D847/5/52 both on the PRONI website ï on-line catalogue. 
33 Josephine McBride. 

http://www.freepages.genealogy.com/~cotyroneireland/newspaper/freeholderreg.html
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1845: 17 Feb, baptism at Minterburn Presbyterian of William, son of James Flanagan and Elizabeth 

Henderson of Kilmore.34 (twin?) 

The above records indicate that Hendersons had been in Aghaloo Parish since at least 1710, and that by 

1773, there were a number of branches of the Hendersons present in the parish, and that there were other 

Hendersons living in Kilmore Townland besides our immediate Henderson family.  Other than the 1752 

notation in the above lease of 1773, the land lease records for Aghaloo Parish found at PRONI only go back 

to the 1770s, so it is not certain that the above records are the earliest for Hendersons in Aghaloo Parish.   

These records strongly suggest that our Hendersons must have been following relatives to Ireland, if they 

werenôt born in Ireland themselves.  The original records for the Caledon Estate, Aghaloo Parish for the 

period 1660 to 1752 are held by the Houghton Library, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.  They are 

filed as MS Eng 218.4, volume 3, óTransactions relateing [sic] to the Caledon Estate since the grant 

thereof to William Hamilton Esq by King Charles the 2nd.ô   They have not as yet been reviewed to see if  the 

Hendersons of the Caledon Estate go back before 1710.  Church records for Tynan Parish exist for 1683 

onward, but the parish was settled during the Ulster Plantation of 1610 to the 1630s.  We canôt be sure that 

1685 was when Hendersons first arrived in Tynan Parish.  

THE EARLIEST RECORDS FOUND FOR EDWARDS IN AGHALOO PARISH: 

-24 Oct. 1735: James Edwards of Kilmor e. lease for part of townland of Kilmore, with liberty of a turf bog 
at Lismulladown, now in his possession.  Rent: £2, 12 shillings, 15 pence.  Tenure: 3 lives from May 1735  
the natural lives of James Edwards, Mary Edwards, daughter of James Edwards, and Robert Pringle, first 
son of John Pringle of Caledon, attorney.  Signatures: James Edwards, Margaret Hamilton [Countess of 
Kinnard (Caledon)].35 
 

-1825 Tithe Applotment for the Townland of Kilmore , Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone:36 James Edwards, 7 

acres, 20 perches 
 

THE EARLIEST RECORDS FOR EDWARDS IN TYNAN PARISH, CO. ARMAGH:37 

 

-9 June 1698, baptism of Jane, daughter of George Edwards. 
 
-4 Aug. 1710, baptism of William, son of James Edwards.  Sureties [sponsors]: William Hamilton, Henry 
Hamilton 
 
-8 Mar. 1713, baptism of Jane Edwards, (fatherôs name not given).  Sureties: James Willis, Mrs. King. 
 
-20 May 1716, baptism of James Edwards, son of James Edwards of Tullybrick.  Sureties: Alexander 
Campbell, William McGloan, Marjorie Campbell. 
 
-4 July 1720, baptism of Mary, daughter of James Edwards of Middletown.  Sureties: James Stewart, Anne 
Hugart. 
 
-26 Jan. 1721, Elizabeth Edwards was a sponsor at the baptism of Jane, daughter of William Busby of 
Middletown. (p. 106) 

 
34 Josephine McBride. 
35 From the Caledon Estate Papers held at PRONI, Reference: D.2433/A/1/23/1 
36http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.com/~tyrone/parishes/tithe-applotment/t-a-aghaloo.html   
37 Source for the Tynan Parish records: J. M. Batchelor, óTynan Parish, Armagh, Baptisms, Marriages and Burials, 

1683-1723, , D¼iche N®ill: Journal of the OôNeill Country Historical Society, Vol. 15, 2006, ô pp. 92-132. 
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-1740 Protestant Householders of the parish of Tynan, Barony of Turany, Co. Armagh:38 

-  George. Henderson, John Henderson, and  James Edwards. 

 
From the preceding, it is evident that besides our Anne Edwards (wife of William Henderson I), there were 
other Edwards living in Kilmore Townland, Aghaloo Parish, and in neighbouring Tynan Parish, Co. 
Armagh. 
 
Living descendant of Inverness Tp. No. 1 has not one single Edwards DNA match leading to Scotland.  All 
No 1ôs Edwards DNA matches were for Wales in the largest number, followed by England.  However, 
living descendant of Inverness Tp., No. 1 also has other relatives (not related to Hendersons or Edwards) 
that would also be expected to produce Edwards matches in Wales and England.  We have no data that 
would suggest where Anne Edwards might have come from, before Aghaloo Parish.  She remains a 
mystery.     
 

The earliest origins of the Hendersons in Ireland may not even have been the Caledon Estate.  There was 

much upheaval in Ireland from wars and rebellions, with people scattering.  Landlords in one area recruited 

new tenants from other landlords elsewhere in Ulster.  As a result, it canôt be discounted that the earliest 

Hendersons may have moved to the Caledon Estate from land in some other Ulster settlement scheme.  If  

they did come to the Caledon Estate from elsewhere, it would likely have been from somewhere else in 

Ulster (Northern Ireland).   

 

It can be noted from the DNA test results of four Inverness Tp. Quebec descendants, that Wil liam 

Henderson (married Anne Edwards) had relations, many predating the Caledon Estate records, living in: 

 

Co. Tyrone in 1680 (Parish not specified) 

Co. Tyrone in 1690  ñ 

Co. Tyrone in 1709  ñ 

Co. Tyrone in 1775  ñ 

 

Co. Antrim in 1644 

Co. Antrim in 1694-95 

Co. Antrim in 1702 

Co. Antrim in 1724 

 

Co. Armagh in 1675 

Co. Armagh in 1755 

 

Co. Donegal in 1650 

Co. Kildare in 1730 

 

Scots came to Ulster at various times between 1400 and 1710, under a number of settlement schemes, as 

follows: 

 

SETTLEMENT SCHEMES IN ULSTER, 1400s-1710s 

 

1.  1400-1593:  Gallowglasses and Redshanks mercenaries came to Ulster from the western islands and 

highlands of Scotland to help the Irish Earls fight off the encroaching Protestant foreigners.  It is estimated 

that between 1350 and 1593, approximately 56,250 Scottish Gallowglasses and Red Shanks arrived in 

 
38 Source: A look-up provided by Brian J. Gilmore - BrianJGilmore@aol.com from the book, Historical Sketches of 

the Parish of Tynan and Middletown (out of print). 

mailto:BrianJGilmore@aol.com
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Ireland.39  Many stayed to settle.  No Hendersons have been found on existing lists of these settlers. 

 

2.  1400-1630:   The MacDonalds of North Antrim brought in many Scottish settlers.  Most of them would 

have come from the highlands and islands of western Scotland.40  By 1630, there were 800 Scottish males 

living on the MacDonald estates in Antrim. This would have meant a total Scottish population of about 

3000.41  

  

3. 1500s:  Sir Robert Phillips brought in Scottish settlers to South Antrim.  Phillips also purchased 

Coleraine Abbey and six surrounding townlands of Londonderry County from Sir James Hamilton.  He 

later acquired 6,300 acres at Moyola, and 13,100 acres at Limivady which became his main settlement.  He 

brought in Scots to settle in both areas, and created the town of Coleraine.42   

 

4.  1590s-1630s: The Earl of Essex brought in English and Scottish settlers to County Monaghan.  In the 

1620s, he acquired 47,000 acres in the Barony of Farney, Co. Monaghan.  This estate was developed 

systematically by his agents.43   Parts of County Monaghan had already been settled in the 1590s.  Between 

1600 and 1603, English landlords who held land elsewhere in Ireland were granted large tracts of land in 

County Monaghan.  They brought in settlers from elsewhere in Ireland, and from England and Scotland.   

5.  1605-1630:  Hugh Montgomery from Braidstone, Ayrshire, Scotland and James Hamilton of Scotland, 

brought in settlers to the Ards of County Down.   The terms of the crown's grant to these two Scots were 

specified in 1605, and included an obligation to inhabit the lands with Scots and Englishmen.  By 1630, 

there were about 2,700 Scottish males on Montgomery and Hamiltonôs estates in County Down, of which 

about 80% were names commonly found in the south-western counties of Scotland.44  They were most 

likely Border Rievers.  They were made up of a mix of gentry, merchants, lairds leaving for economic 

reasons and bringing their tenants with them, as well as many convicted criminals, and fugitives from the 

law.  A few of the more enterprising fugitives shipped stolen cattle, sheep, and horses to County Down, 

where they were in short supply.  Although the Scots who came to County Down were a mix of classes, 

commenting on the character of these new settlers, Cussack quotes an unnamed Presbyterian minister of 

County Down, who apparently had his share of the worst kind: 

ñFrom Scotland came many, and from England not a few; yet all of them generally the scum of 

both nations, who, from debt, or making and fleeing from justice, or seeking shelter, came hither, 

hoping to be without fear of manôs justice. . .ò45 

It is estimated that the total number who came to Montgomery and Hamiltonôs settlements in the Ards of 
County Down may have amounted to at least 13,825, and they were mostly from Scotland.  The Scottish 
settlers of the Ards of County Down have been well researched, and there appears to be no Hendersons 

 
39 A History of Migration Into, Within, and Out of Ireland from 1169 to 1851: A Companion to Genealogy, Gwen 

Barry, Evans Books, 2012, p. 46. 

40 óThe Seaton Familyô at http://www2.thesetonfamily.com/ 

41 óThe Seaton Familyô at http://www2.thesetonfamily.com/ 
42 James Stevens Curl, The Londonderry Plantation, 1609-1914, Chichester, Sussex: Phillimore and Co. Ltd., 1986, 

28-29, 431. 

43. Philip S. Robinson, The plantation of Ulster: British settlement in an Irish landscape, 1600-1670, 54-55.  
44 óThe Seaton Familyô at http://www2.thesetonfamily.com/ 
45A History of Migration Into, Within, and Out of Ireland from 1169 to 1851: A Companion to Genealogy, Gwen 

Barry, Evans Books, 2012, p. 69.  

http://www2.thesetonfamily.com/
http://www2.thesetonfamily.com/
http://www2.thesetonfamily.com/
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among them. 
 

An estimate of the number of Scots who arrived in Ulster in the settlement schemes of  Nos. 2, 3, and 4 

above is as follows:46 
 
-Earl of Essex and others in County Monaghan               500           
-MacDonnell/MacDonald  (North Antrim)                   3,000                                                                                       
-Chichester (South Antrim)                                              400 
-Montgomery and Hamilton (Ards of Co. Down)       13,825             
-Phillips (South Antrim and Coleraine)                         1,000  

                                             ---------         
TOTAL                                                                        18,725           

Other than for the Ards of County Down settlement, few records exist for these early Ulster settlements.  It 

is not impossible that Hendersons may have been among them, later finding their way to the Caledon 

Estate. 

6.  OôNEILL LAND - MINTERBURN TERRITORY - late 1400s to 1639 
From the late 1400s, this area was owned by the Irish Earls of the OôNeill tribe.  They brought in settlers 
on their own initiative, mainly from England, but there were some Scots among their settlers.  Their 
territory included all of Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone (which later formed the Caledon Estate), some 
townlands immediately to the north of Aghaloo Parish, and the townlands of north-western Tynan Parish 
of County Armagh (some of which also later became part of the Caledon Estate).  Apart from those settlers 
that the OôNeills acquired directly from England and Scotland, they may have acquired tenants from 
elsewhere in Ulster.47  In 1608, the Crown took possession of Sir Phelim OôNeillôs estates in the western 
 half of Aghaloo Parish, and those of Tynan Parish.  This left the OôNeills with ownership of only the 
eastern half of Aghaloo Parish, which is where our Hendersons settled.  Most of eastern Aghaloo was 
owned by Sir Phelim OôNeill, with his manor at Kinard (Caledon).  According to Paidraig Lenihan, shortly 
before the Irish Rebellion of 1640, OôNeill evicted some of his native Irish tenants near Kinard, and  
replaced them with British settler families, who were able to pay higher rents.48  From 1640 to 1652, Ireland  
was in rebellion and at war, so it is not likely that OôNeill acquired any more British settlers during that 
period.  
 
The Irish Rebellion of 1640, led by Sir Phelim OôNeill of Kinnard, merged into the Cromwellian War in  
Ireland from 1649-52.  Ireland was turned into a bloodbath.  At the end of the Cromwellian War in 1652,  
OôNeill went on the run, was caught and hung for treason.  His eastern half of Aghaloo Parish was 

confiscated by the Crown in 1652, but was not regranted until 1660 (to a Hamilton), due to the large 

number of OôNeillôs mortgages and various other debts that had to be settled first.  It is unlikely that the 

OôNeill Estateôs pre-1640 tenant lease records survived the many tribal skirmishes, rebellions, and wars that 

took place up to 1652.  That being said, the Crown must have had some records in order to sort out 

ownership, debts, and mortgages of his estate before it could be regranted.  No names of OôNeillôs British 

tenants have been found. 

 

It is possible that there were one or two Henderson settlers brought in directly from Scotland by OôNeill 

before 1640.  To have continued on in Aghaloo Parish, such Hendersons would have had to survive the 

brutal Irish Rebellion of 1640, and the subsequent Cromwellian War.   

 

 
46 A History of Migration Into, Within, and Out of Ireland from 1169 to 1851: A Companion to Genealogy, Gwen 

Barry, Evans Books, 2012, p. 62. 
47 History of the Territory of Minterburn and Town of Caledon, by John J. Marshall,  

Dungannon: Tyrone Printing Co., 13-14. 
48 Confederate Catholics at War, Cork: Cork University Press, 2001, Padraig Lenihan, p.31, in Wikipedia, Phelim 

OôNeill of Kinard. 
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7. THE ULSTER PLANTATION, 1610-1640 
In 1603, the Nine Years War ended in Ulster with the defeat of the Irish and the Anglo-Irish Catholics.  
Many of the defeated Irish, along with their families and supporters fled to Europe in óThe Flight of the 
Earls.ô  The Ulster Plantation was designed to break the stranglehold of the remaining native Irish in 
Ulster.49  As a first step, the Crown confiscated 500,000 acres of Catholic land in Ulster in 1608.  Counties 
Armagh, Cavan, Tyrone, Donegal, Coleraine (Londonderry), Fermanagh, and the rest of counties Antrim, 
Down, and Monaghan not already settled were divided into 28 baronies.  Sixteen baronies were divided 
equally between English and Scottish undertakers.  The rest were for the use of servitors of the Crown, and 
for the native Irish.  County Coleraine was reserved for undertakers from the trade guilds of the City of 
London, England.  As an inducement to these Londoners, Coleraine was renamed County Londonderry, and 
Coleraine became a district within the new county.  
 
It was an elaborate, detailed and rigidly controlled scheme.  Baronies were established with Chief 
Undertakers, consisting of Dukes, Barons, Earls, and Knights, who were to bring in settlers.  The settlers 
themselves were tenants of land owned by the Chief Undertakers, or ordinary undertakers appointed by 
their Chief Undertaker.  On every 1,000 acres, there were to be at least 24 able-bodied Scots, English or 
Welsh settler families.   
 
The initial allocation of land in the Ulster Plantation was roughly divided as follows:50 

 
- Scottish and English settlers - 36% of the land  - The Church of Ireland - 16% 
- The London companies - 10%  - Trinity College, Dublin - 3% 
- Garrisons and other establishments - 3%  - Loyal native Irish - 20% 
- Servitors, (state officials, army officers, and the Old-English) in County Cavan - 12% 

 
Settlement of the Ulster Plantation began in 1610.  The first to be satisfied were the officers who had 
provided military service in the Nine Years War.51  And then land was granted to English and Scottish 
undertakers.  King James Iôs specific instructions were to the effect that Scottish Catholic islanders and 
highlanders were not allowed into Ulster in this plantation.52  Each undertaker was to draw his tenants from 
at least ten different Scottish clans, in order to minimize old clan allegiances. Undertakers had a natural 
inclination to bring in settlers from their own estates in England or Scotland.  Al l had difficulty in meeting 
their quotas, so English undertakers took Scottish settlers, if they could get them, and vice versa.  Hence 
there were few areas of solely Scottish or English settlement in Ulster, apart from Montgomery and 
Hamiltonôs earlier settlement in the Ards of County Down.  By county, the Ulster Plantation details are as 
follows: 
 

County Tyrone 

In 1610, most of the western half of Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone was granted to a servitor, Sir Thomas 

Ridgeway.  Other parts of the western half were granted at the same time to the Archbishop of Armagh.  

The names of their settlers were mostly English in origin (as opposed to Scottish).  The eastern half of 

Aghaloo Parish, remained in the hands of the Irish OôNeill tribe until 1652. 
 
 
 
 

 
49

Aidan Clarke, The Old English in Ireland, 1625-32, 27. 

50 Christine Kinealy, A New History of Ireland, 84-86. 

51 Ibid., 84. 
52 M. Percival Maxwell, The Scottish Migration to Ulster in the Reign of James I, 281-282. 
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The Abercorn Estate (also known as the Baronscourt Estate) was planted during the 1610-1630 period of 
the Ulster Plantation.  This estateôs tenants came from Scotland, giving the area a distinctive Scottish feel.53   
The Abercorn Estate included: 
 
The Manor of Strabane, Ardstraw Parish, Co. Tyrone: 
 
-In 1616, John Henderson was a tailor at Strabane town, and in the same year, William Henderson was also 
living in Strabane town, both on the Baronscourt Estate.54   

 
-The Hendersons of Strabane must have survived the 1640 Rebellion, and the Cromwellian War, since in an 
Inquisition of County Tyrone taken in August 1693, a William Henderson was recorded as living at 
Strabane at the time of the Rebellion. 
 
The Manor of Dunelong, Donagheady Parish, Co. Tyrone. In the Hearth Money Rolls of the 1660s, Simon 
Henderson was located at Castle Warren Townland.  He was most probably part of the Ulster Plantation. 
 
The Estate of Sir Arthur Chichesterôs in Drumglass parish was settled from 1611 onwards.  According to 
the 1660s Hearth Money Rolls, among Chichesterôs tenants were the following.55  They were most likely a 
part of the Ulster Plantation. 
 

Name    Parish   Townland 

James Henderson  Ballyclog  Dungannon 

John Henderson   Drumragh  Edergoul 

James Henderson  Drumglass  Dungannon Town56 - 2 hearths (1666) 

 
The Manor of Cloghogle, Leckpatrick Parish, Co. Tyrone.  In the 1660s Hearth Money Rolls, there were 
Hendersons, who were probably part of Abercornôs Ulster Plantation, as follows: 
 

-Thomas Henderson, Golermoney Townland,  

-Thomas Henderson, Desert Townland 
 
The Manor of Derrygoon, Ardstraw Parish, Co. Tyrone -  No Hendersons records found. 

 
County Armagh 
In County Armagh, OôNeill Land Barony, was assigned to English undertakers, and Lower Fewes Barony 
was assigned to Scottish undertakers.  Orior Barony was reserved for the native Irish and servitors.  
Armagh Barony (including Tynan Parish) was equally divided, with one half going to Trinity College, 
Dublin, and the other half to the Church of Ireland and to servitors,57 Armagh Barony took in Scots, 
English, and Welsh settlers. 

 

 
53 Bready and District Ulster-Scot Development Association, retrieved 10 May 2006 at 

http://www.breadyancestry.com  

54 Rev. Dad Stewart, Familia: Journal of the Ulster Genealogical and Historical Guild, No. 11, 1995.  

55 https://www.cotyroneireland.com/ 
56 ñHeart Money Rolls, Barony of Dungannon, 1666,ò (24-37), in Seanchas Ardmacha, Vol. 6, No. 1, 1971, 31. 
57 Hilary Simms, ñViolence in County Armagh, 1641,ò in Brian Mac Cuarta, Ulster 1641: Aspects of the Rising, 

Belfast: Institute of Irish Studies, 1993, 123.  

https://www.cotyroneireland.com/
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-1622 Muster Roll:  John Henderson, 1 sword.  On lands of the Primate of Armagh, outside the Town of 

Armagh, and outside the liberties of Armagh.58   

 

County Antrim59 

There were 16 Hendersons listed In the Hearth Money Rolls of 1669 for County Antrim.  Some of them 

may have arrived before or during the Ulster Plantation.  

 

Hendersons in County Donegal60 

 

-Matthew Henderson is listed in the Muster roll of Sir Robert Stewartôs Regiment of 1642 at Raphoe.  He 

most likely arrived during the Ulster Plantation. 

 
County Fermanagh 

Thomas Moneypenny, an undertaker from Kinkell, near St Andrews, Scotland brought in settlers to 

Fermanagh.61  And on the estate of James Balfour, Baron of Clannally in 1631 were: - Richard Henderson 

and Symon Henderson.62 

 

County Cavan 

In County Cavan, the barony of Loughtee was granted to English undertakers, while the baronies of 

Clankee and Tullyhunco went to Scottish undertakers.  -Alexander Henderson was settled in Co. Cavan 

during the Ulster Plantation. 

County Londonderry 

County Londonderry was settled as part of The Ulster Plantation, almost exclusively by people from 

London, England, in a scheme run by the London Company of Trade Guilds.  Some of the new English and 

Scottish tenants were moved from Antrim and Down to Londonderry to take up the slack of some of the 

London trade guilds who were unable to meet their individual quota of settlers.63   

In 1617, when Sir Robert McClelland from Bomby, Kircudbright, Scotland purchased the Haberdasherôs 

plantation in the Barony of Loughinsholin, County Londonderry, he was already settled at Hollywood, 

County Down.  He, along with Garvin Kelso of Clandeboy, County Down resettled some of their 

Hollywood and Clandeboy Scottish tenants into the former Haberdasherôs plantation in County 

Londonderry.   

 

There were five Hendersons listed in the Muster Roll of 1630 for Londonderry County,64 all in the Liberties 

of Coleraine.  These were probably transferred tenants from the 1617 McClelland or Kelso settlements of 

County Down. 
 

 
58 T. G. F. Paterson, ñAn Unpublished Early 17th Century Census of the Men and Arms on the Estate of the English 

and Scotch Settlers in County Armagh,ò (401-417) Seanchas Ardmacha, Vol. 5, No. 2, 1970, 412 
59 http://www.billmacafee.com/  
60 https://cotyroneireland.com/ 
61 T. C. Smout, N. C. Landsman, and T. M. Devine, óScottish Emigration. . .ô in Canny, Europeans. . ., 80.  

62 1631 Muster Roll, County of Fermanagh, retrieved 5 Apr 2005 at http://www.rootsweb.com 

63
Philip S. Robinson, The plantation of Ulster: British settlement in an Irish landscape, 1600-1670, 123. 

64 http://www.billmacafee.com/1630musterrolls/1630musterrollsderry.pdf 

http://www.billmacafee.com/
https://cotyroneireland.com/
http://www.rootsweb.com/
http://www.billmacafee.com/1630musterrolls/1630musterrollsderry.pdf
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According to Smout, by 1640 there were roughly 25,000 Scots settled in the Ulster Plantation.65  Robinson 
claims that 80% of the settlers in the Ulster Plantation were Scots.66  Most of the Plantation was settled by 
1630, with only a trickle arriving between 1630 and 1640. 

 
8.  VERY FEW NEW SETTLERS, 1630-1653 

After 1630, Scottish migration to Ireland waned for two decades. In the 1630s, many Scots went home after 

King Charles forced the Prayer Book of the Church of England on the Church of Ireland, thus denying the 

Scots their form of worship.  In 1638, an oath was imposed on the Scots in Ulster, 'The Black Oath' bound 

them on no account to take up arms against the King.  Young indicates that rather than take the Black Oath, 

between 1639 and 1640 some Scots in County Down and at Carrickfergus and elsewhere in Ulster returned 

to Scotland.67   

 

In October 1641, the native Irish broke out in armed rebellion across Ulster, led by Sir Phelim OôNeill of 

Kinnard (Caledon), Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone, in concert with a few other native Irish gentry.  They 

developed a plan for swift action to take some British forts associated with the Protestant Ulster Plantation.  

This action was designed to serve as a bargaining chip for improvements in Catholic rights related to 

religious worship and property ownership.  On October 22-23, 1641, OôNeill and other Irish gentry each 

captured an English fort, including Charlemont in County Armagh, Dungannon, Mountjoy, and Cookstown 

in County Tyrone, Moneymore and Dungiven in County Londonderry, and Tandragee and Newry in 

County Down.68  On 23 October 1641, the town of Clones, County Monaghan was seized, and several of 

the county administrators of Clones were murdered.69  
 

Within a matter of weeks, OôNeillôs stage-managed rebellion got out of hand.  It became a popular uprising 

of the Irish across Ireland.  Neither OôNeill or his opponents -the local British settler militias were able to 

control their supporters.  Mayhem resulted in murder on both sides.  Panic set in throughout Ulster, and 

society fragmented into local groups for self-protection.70  When Charlemont in County Armagh was taken 

by the Irish on 23 October 1641, a number of local Protestants were taken prisoner.  In mid-November, the 

prisoners were handed over to one of  OôNeillôs underlings to march them off to confinement elsewhere.  

As they marched past Portadown, County Armagh, about 100 of the Protestant settlers were forced over a 

bridge to their deaths, by drowning and shooting.71  In County Cavan, Belturbetôs 1,500 British settlers, as 

well as about 400 from neighbouring Virginia (Aghanure), and numbers unknown elsewhere in Cavan were 

ordered to evacuate to Dublin.  Those who remained behind were massacred.72  At Shewie, in Kilmore 

Parish, County Armagh, about 24-30 Protestants were barricaded into a house by local Irishmen and 

 
65 Ibid, 80. 
66 Philip S. Robinson, The Plantation of Ulster: British Settlement in an Irish Landscape. . ., 113-115. 

67
John R. Young, Scotland and Ulster in the Seventeenth Century: The Movement of Peoples Over the North.  

68 Nicholas Canny, Making Ireland British, 1580-1650, Oxford: Oxford U Press, 2001, 469-470. 

69 Raymond Gillespie, Destabilizing Ulster, 1641-42, in Brian MacCuarta, ed., Ulster 1641: Aspects of the Rising, 

Belfast: Institute of Irish Studies, 1993, 107. 

70 Raymond Gillespie, óDestabilizing Ulster, 1641-42,ô 109. 

71
Hilary Simms, Violence in County Armagh, 1641, in Brian MacCuarta, ed., Ulster 1641. . ., 124-125. 

72 Lord Ernest Hamilton, The Irish Rebellion of 1641. . ., 149-150. 
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women.  The house was set on fire, and the hostages were burnt alive. 

 

While Sir Phelim OôNeill was off raiding Dublin Castle, about twenty of his former Irish tenants at Kinnard 

(Caledon) went out of control. On October 22nd 1641, they disarmed some of the English and Scottish 

inhabitants in Kinard and for a few miles around, pillaged their homes, and stole their best horses.73  Either 

in December 1641 or January 1642, again with OôNeill absent from Kinard, his Catholic tenants of the 

OôHugh sept got drunk and massacred at least 32 of OôNeillôs Protestant tenants, including 20 adults and 12 

children.  In revenge against this dastardly deed committed by his Irish comrades, OôNeill hung OôHugh 

and eight or nine of his accomplices.   

 

In January 1642, OôNeillôs supporters murdered Lord Caulfield at Kinnard, along with fifteen more of 

OôNeillôs Protestant tenants of the Kinard area.74  About Easter, 1642, a number of the English and Scots 

still surviving, who lived in and around Kinard as tenants of OôNeill, were driven to the Blackwater River 

and drowned.  In the midst of this chaos, Sir Phelimôs mother, Catherine OôNeill-Hovenden saved twenty-

four English and Scots in her own house, and fed them for thirty-seven weeks, until they were relieved by 

Scottish Highland Regiments.  These regiments also found a number of English and Scottish prisoners from 

other parts of Ulster who had been held in Sir Phelimôs house at Kinard, and in Bantry woods.75  These are 

mere examples of the atrocities committed all over Ireland, as the Rebellion spread.  If there were any 

Hendersons among OôNeillôs tenants, they may have been lucky enough to have survived, or maybe not.   

Many of the survivors of the 1642 Rebellion rushed to the seaports and went back to Scotland and England.   

 

In May 1642, ten thousand Scottish soldiers, including many Highlanders under the leadership of General 

Monroe, arrived in Ireland to protect the Scottish settlers of Ulster from the Irish Rebellion.  The recently 

deposed Charles I of England sought to woo over Irish Catholic and Anglo-Irish Catholic supporters for his 

cause, which quickly divided Ireland into Royalist supporters of Charles I, and Parliamentarian supporters 

of Oliver Cromwell.  To further help in putting down the Irish Rebellion, and in an attempt to prevent 

Charles I of England from gaining a foothold in Ireland, in 1649 Cromwellôs Parliamentary Forces came to 

Ireland, joining forces with the Scottish Regiments already on the ground.  Cromwellôs New Model Army 

that arrived in 1649 consisted of approximately 45,000 soldiers, of which approximately 9,000 were made 

up of English and Scottish regiments.76  The rest of his troops were raised from among his Protestant 

supporters in Europe and in Ireland.  

 

By 1653, the Gaelic Irish and King Charles forces were defeated, resulting in the Irish Earls fleeing to 

Europe, taking their families with them.  In 1650, Sir Phelim OôNeill of Aghaloo Parish capitulated.  

Instead of leaving Ireland within three months, as offered to him by the Crown, he chose to go on the run.  

He was captured; sent to Dublin for trial; found guilty of treason, and sentenced to be executed on  

5th March 1653.77  Sir Phelimôs Minterburn Territory, which covered the eastern half of Aghaloo Parish, 

was confiscated by the Crown.  

 

 

 
73 History of the Territory of Minterburn and Town of Caledon, by John J. Marshall, Dungannon: Tyrone Printing Co., 

15-16. 
74 Hilary Simms, ñViolence in County Armagh, 1641,ò (123-138) in Brian MacCuarta, ed., Ulster 1641: Aspects of the 

Rising, Belfast: The Institute for Irish Studies, Queenôs U, 1993, 130 
75 History of the Territory of Minterburn and Town of Caledon, by John J. Marshall, Dungannon: Tyrone Printing Co., 

p.17. 
 
76 John O=Hart, The Irish and Anglo-Irish Landed Gentry When Cromwell Came to Ireland, 411-423. 

77 Rev. David Stewart, Familia: Journal of the Ulster Genealogical and Historical Guild, No. 11, 1995. 



36 

 

While estimates varied, according to Hamilton approximately 37,000 Protestants died in all of Ireland, by 

massacre, hunger or exposure on the roads due to the winter weather while taking flight, of which 

approximately 24,000 of this number were from Ulster.  No new settlers arrived in Ireland in this twenty 

year period of scorched earth upheaval.    

 

9. THE CROMWELLIAN PLANTATION, 1653-1660 

At then end of the Cromwellian War, all of the land of the Irish and Anglo-Irish Catholics everywhere in 

Ireland was confiscated by the English Crown.  In 1653, at the end of the war, Cromwell developed a new 

settlement scheme to bring in Protestants to fill the confiscated Catholic land.  With the previous land 

owners having fled or been transported out of Ireland before the 1654-56 Civil Survey was conducted, the 

British had a most difficult time in assigning lots to the new settlers.  There was no one left on the land to 

tell them the previous demarcation of estates and lots.  Once the Civil Survey had been more or less 

completed, the lands were allotted out to Protestants.  In Ulster the majority of new settlers came from 

Scotland.  The Cromwellian plantation was a messy process, and took many years to put in place.   
 

The first settlers were planted in 1654.  New settlers were still planting in the 1660s.  The first large scale 

arrival of lowland Scots had occurred in the Ulster Plantation of 1610-1630, and an equal number of Scots 

arrived in Ulster during the Cromwellian Plantation, during the 1650s-60s.  Several thousand of General 

Monroe=s Scottish soldiers were disbanded in Ulster to settle.  Their origins can be gleaned from the 

regiments in which they served, namely the regiments of:78 

 

Earl of Leven (Sir Alexander Lesley)       Earl of Lothian  Laird of Lare 

Lord Glencairn                                          Earl of Cassillus  Marquis of Argyle 

Lord Sinclair                                             Earl of Lindsay  Colonel Hume 

Colonel Cauder                                         Lord Lowden  Earl of Eglinton 

Colonel, Lord James Montgomery           Colonel Dalzell   

Colonel Sir Duncan Campbell of Auchinbreck, Isle of Stait  
 

William Pettyôs survey of 1672 recorded 122,176 new Protestants in Ireland, who had not been there before 

the 1641 Rebellion.  Of those, he estimated that about 20,000 came from Scotland. 

   

Finally in 1661, for his service in the Irish Rebellion and the Cromwellian War, Captain William Hamilton 

was granted all of those lands comprising Sir Phelim OôNeillôs eastern half of Aghaloo parish.  Hamiltonôs 

home was at Curran Lough, near Benburb, Co. Tyrone.  He had formerly been a middleman tenant on the 

estate of the Wingfields at their Manor of Benburb.  In 1646, Captain Hamilton had been a part of the 

British militia forces that fought and lost to the Irish OôNeills at the Battle of Benburb.  Hamilton would 

have inherited OôNeills former tenants, at least those who had survived.  He would have had to bring in a 

lot of new tenants in order to support his new holdings in Aghaloo Parish.  It is possible that he acquired 

some tenants from Wingfieldôs Manor of Benburb, and/or from the Abercorn Estate of County Tyrone.  He 

may have brought in others directly from Scotland and England.  

It is not known if Captain Hamilton inherited OôNeills former Henderson tenants, if there had been any, or 

if he brought in Hendersons as new tenants in the 1660s. The original tenant lease papers, and other 

Caledon Estate records for the Hamilton period of ownership (1661-1752) are housed in the Special 

Collections section of  the Houghton Library, Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass., filed as MS Eng 

218.4, Vol. 3, titled óTransactions relating to Caledon Estate since the grant thereof to William Hamilton, 

Esq by King Charles the 2nd.  A search of those records of 1661-1752 at Harvard University might shed 

 
78
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some light on this.  The Covid-19 pandemic got in the way of a planned trip to Harvard to search those 

records. 

10. VERY FEW SETTLERS ARRIVED, 1660-1691 

There may have been a trickle of Scots emigrating to Ireland after the Cromwellian Plantation, but there 

was no organized settlement scheme during this period, other than for the eastern half of Aghaloo Parish, 

Co. Tyrone in the 1660s.  Those, such as Captain Hamilton who was a late Cromwellian claimant receiving 

Aghaloo Parish in 1661, had to find their own settlers. 

11. THE WILLIAMITE SETTLEMENT 1692 to the early 1700s 

From 1688-1691, the Williamite War raged in Ireland.  Emigration from Scotland slowed.  However, some 

of the Ulster-Scots who had fled Ireland for Scotland at the outbreak of the war were formed into a refugee 

regiment, and were sent back to Ireland to fight in the war.79  Many of them may have recovered their land 

in Ulster when the war was over.  Glancy claims that  ñThe aftermath of the Williamite victory brought a 

flood of immigrants to County Armagh, principally of lowland Scottish origin and of the Presbyterian 

religion.ò80   

In the ten years after the 1690 Battle of the Boyne, it is estimated that as many as 50,000-60,000 Scots 

crossed over to settle in Ulster, as a result of repeated harvest failures, and economic collapse in Scotland.  

Not all the Scots coming to Ulster were famine refugees.  After the war, there was cheap land to be had in 

Ulster, and Scots with money bought up land there.  In the northern half of County Monaghan, Anglo-Irish 

landlords, such as Lord Blayney at Castleblayney, the Leslies at Glasslough, the Dawsons at Dartry, and the 

Murray/Clermont estate encouraged Protestant Scots, offering their best land on favourable terms and at 

low rent.81  In the 1690s, the Clotworthy family of Massereene, County Antrim also held 22,000 acres in 

County Monaghan on which a large number of Scots settled at that time.82  It was at this point that the Scots 

became an absolute majority of the population in Ulster.  But it was the last significant influx of Scots into 

Ireland.  It is possible, that Hendersons came to Aghaloo Parish in the Williamite Settlement of 1692 to the 

early 1700s, although there were Hendersons in Tynan Parish from at least 1685 ïbefore the Williamite 

settlement began.  The Williamite Settlement was the last wave of Scots arriving in Ireland, under planned 

settlement schemes. 

CONCLUSIONS  

When Hendersons of the Caledon Estate, Aghaloo Parish, Co. Tyrone and Tynan Parish, Co. Armagh came 

from Scotland to Ireland is anybodyôs guess.  The most probable periods, not with any particular weight 

are: 

 

1. Recruited directly from Scotland by the OôNeill Tribe of Aghaloo Parish before 1640. 

 
79 John R. Young, óScotland and Ulster in the Seventeenth Century. . .ô 30-31. 

80 Michael Glancy, óThe Incidence of the Plantation on the City of Armagh,ô (115-160) Seanchas Ardmhacha, Vol. 

1, No. 2, 1955, 137. 

81 The People of Ireland, Appletree Press, cited in Irelandôs Eye, retrieved 25 Aug 2005 at 

http://www.irelandseye.com  

82 Peter Roebuck, óLandlord Indebtedness in Ulster in the Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries,ô in J. M. 
Goldstrom and L. A. Clarkson, eds., Irish Population, Economy, and Society: Essays in Honour of the late K. H. 

Connell, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1981, 149.  135-154. 
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2. Recruited directly from Scotland by the Hamilton owner of Aghaloo Parish in the 1660s. 

 

3. Recruited by OôNeill or Hamilton from the Abercorn or Chichester Estate of the County Tyrone in the 

Ulster Plantation of 1610-1630, and later resettled in Aghaloo Parish. 

 

4. Recruited from disbanded soldiers at the end of the Cromwellian War. 

 

5. Recruited in the 1710s-1720s in the Williamite Plantation. 

 

6. Any other possibility.  In the case of our particular family, they came over from Scotland to Ireland about 

1798-1803, as strays who were most probably following family. 

 

The preceding is a superficial account of emigration to Ireland.  For a more in-depth analysis of emigration 

into Ireland and the causes of such migration, see óA History of Migration Into, Within, and Out of Ireland 

from 1169-1850: A Companion to Genealogy, Gwen Barry, Evans Books, 2012, available at 

http://www/booksbygwen.ca  
 

ABOUT AGHALOO PARISH & SURROUNDING AREA 

 

The following accounts will serve to give the reader a flavour of  living conditions in the parishes of 

Aghaloo and Tynan, during the period that our Hendersons lived there. 
 

CALEDON VILLAGE , AGHALOO PARISH83   
Caledon is a small town or village.  It is the location of the Manor of the Earlôs of Caledon. As you come 

upon the town by car, it presents itself out of nowhere as a rather imposing town, with a wide main street, 

long neat rows of high stone buildings, and the impressive Church of Ireland on a hilltop, with a spire that 

can be seen from most everywhere in the town. It does not look like any other town in Ireland, where the 

streets are winding and narrow, and the buildings crowded together.  The border of the eastern half of the 

parish is the Blackwater River, making it an excellent location for water power for mills, and for linen 

bleaching.  A stoneôs throw across the river is the Parish of Eglish, County Armagh.  Prior to the 1820s, the 

main activities were farming, grain milling, linen bleaching, and weaving.  In the mid-1820s, the Earl of 

Caledon built a large imposing flour mill.  In association with the flour mill, the Earl also built two-story 

stone tenement buildings for the workers of his flour mill.   

 

Church Hill in the town, (now known as Churchill Road) begins at the main street of Caledon, and rises 

steeply, cresting at St Johnôs Church of Ireland (Episcopal/Anglican), with its large, very old cemetery.  

The cemetery was the burying place for Church of Ireland members, Presbyterians, Methodists, and Roman 

Catholics ever since the church was first built in 1682, up until other denominations built their own 

churches.  There was a Presbyterian Church at Minterburn from 1714, suggesting a fair number of Ulster 

Scots in Aghaloo Parish.84  There was and still is a school located directly across the street from St Johnôs C 

of I, originally  known as Church Hill school, and now known as Churchill School.  Next to the school 

there used to be a row of tenements, known as Hendersons Row, since demolished.  These were the 

tenements leased back and forth by a number of Branches of the Aghaloo Hendersons in the 1700s and 

1800s.  From there the road runs downhill along Red Bray field.  The population of Caledon village was 

 
83 Based on several visits to Caledon by Gwen Barry 
84 According to Rev. R. W. Killen: Minterburn Presbyterian: Retrieved May 8, 2017 at 

http://www.cotyroneireland.com/churchrecord/presbyterian_histories.html#MINTERBURN  
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about 1,079 persons in 1831, 702 in 1881, and 387 in 2001.85  Caledon village is 2 kilometers from Tynan 

Village, and about 7 km from Armagh Town, Co. Armagh.   
         

A description of Caledon at the time some of our Hendersons left for Quebec is available.  According to 

Angelique Day and Patrick McWilliam, eds., Ordnance Survey Memoirs of Ireland, Vol. 20, Parishes of 

Co. Tyrone II, 1825, 1833-5, 1840, Dublin: Institute of Irish Studies, 1993 (Aghaloo Parish, pp. 1-5): 

 

Caledon is situated . . .on the high road from Monaghan to Dungannon.  It is 89 miles from Dublin. . .The 

ancient name of the town was Kinnard. . .The town consists of one street which presents a remarkably neat 

appearance.  The public buildings are a church, a Presbyterian meeting house, a schoolhouse and an inn.  

There is a general market every Saturday, a grain market every Tuesday, and a fair on the second Saturday 

in each month.  A day coach from Belfast to Enniskillen passes through it every Sunday, Tuesday and 

Thursday and returns every Monday, Wednesday and Friday. . . 

 

Lord Caledonôs magnificent demesne is situated on the southern side of the town. . .The flour mills at 

Caledon run among the most extensive of the class in the kingdom. . .Corn mill in Dyan, corn mill in 

Drummond. . .Another main road traverses the parish from the south east to north west, leading from 

Armagh to Omagh through Auchnacloy.  Lord Caledon is sparing no expense in improvements here, and 

the flour mills which he has erected supply the country from Belfast to Lough Erne, and nearly equal 

distances north and south. 

 

There is no bog of any great size in the parish but a number of patches varying in extent from 8 to 30 acres, 

whose average depth may be stated as 6 feet. . .There are no natural woods in the parish.  Wheat is 

generally sown in October and barley, oats and potatoes in April or May.  The harvest is mostly in 

September.  Potatoes are dug in the end of October.   

 

The village of Caledon. . .is about 1,300 feet in length.  Its general appearance is peculiarly neat, owing to 

the style of its houses.  The predominance of slated roofs and the regularity of its masonry gives it, from 

some points, the appearance rather of a portion of a large town than the entire of a village.  

 

The church [St Johnôs C of I] is a neat building.  The date of its erection and its cost are unknown.  The 

congregation is about 600 and the average attendance is 200.  It is about 102 feet in length. . .its breadth is 

about 33 feet.  It is only a chapel of ease, the parish church being at Auchnacloy. The Presbyterian church 

at Caledon was built in 1824 or 1828. . .The Wesleyan Methodist chapel is a small neat building.  It was 

built in 1834. . . The court house is a neat and substantial building.  It was erected for the purpose for 

which it is used, together with the dispensary and inn which may be said to constitute one building, by the 

Earl of Caledon at a cost of 3,000 pounds, about the year 1822.  There is a neat barrack in the village 

which measures 135 feet in front.  A sergeant-major and 16 sergeants and 8 men of the militia are stationed 

in it.  The one street is 1,300 feet in length and 55 feet in breadth, which has a pleasing and regular 

appearance owing to its cleanliness and the peculiar neatness of its houses, some of which are built in a 

very ornamental style, having projecting roofs with hanging fringes of wood at the eaves.  There are 120 

houses in the village, of which 100 are slated and the remainder thatched.  2 are 3 stories high, and about 

100 are 2-storey buildings.  The houses are all built of stone and very few of them white-washed.  The 

village is in a state of improvement.  

 

Such of the people as are not engaged in the trifling traffic of the town or as mechanics employ themselves 

in agricultural pursuits.  There is a newsroom in the town where Dublin and Belfast papers are taken.  

There is no public provision for the poor, but the Earl of Caledon has the sum of 3 pounds, 16 shillings, 3 

ducets distributed among them every Saturday and at Christmas 80 pounds worth of clothes is given to 

 
85 Population Source: http://www.caledon.org.uk 



40 

 

them by him besides a quantity of money.  The people do not appear to be very fond of amusements of any 

kind or remarkably hospitable.  The village is, and has been, improving for some time through the highly 

praiseworthy exertions of the Earl of Caledon, who derives his title from it. . . 

 

There are 8 magistrates in the parish, . . The usual force of police is a sergeant and 3 men.  The number of 

outrages in the parish has decreased greatly recently and the people are now extremely peaceable and 

honest.  Illicit distillation is not carried on.  Habits of the People: The cottages are almost all built of mud 

and thatched.  Glass windows are universally used.  Very few of the houses are more than 1 storey and the 

number of rooms varies from 2 to 5. . .The insides are in many cases unclean and uncomfortable.  Some 

which are near Lord Caledonôs demesne are extremely neat and ornamental.  The food of the people for the 

greater part of the year is principally potatoes; oatmeal is also much used.  Their dress is extremely 

irregular and exhibits a remarkable contempt for appearances.  The most striking peculiarity in it is that 

old regimental coats are frequently worn.  Persons of 93, 94 and 97 years of age have recently died in the 

parish and the people in general live to a good age.  There are no instances of marriages before 18.  

Amusement does not appear to be much sought after in the parish.  As usual, dancing forms the principal.  

Emigration to America [means Canada and the USA] used formerly to prevail to a great extent.  It has 

decreased considerably of late.  Remarkable events: None. 

 

KILMORE TOWNLAND, AGHALOO PARISH 

Kilmore townland is rural, consisting of farms, with no streets, other than the road which passes by the 

townland.  Kilmore consists of 396 acres, and in the 1820s-30s was divided between 30 tenant farmers, who 

rented the land from the Earl of Caledon.  There are no stores, and no sign demarking the townland.  Most 

people living in the area today, do not know where Kilmore Townland is or was. 

 

DRUMHILLERY TOWNLAND, TYNAN PARISH, CO. ARMAGH86 

 Drumhillery Townland is a rural farming area, with a population of about 200 people.  It has no side streets 

and no stores.  It has a Presbyterian Meeting House, known as 1st Keady, Presbyterian, with the Orange 

Hall next door.  Although the church was called 1st Keady, it was in Drumhillery, Tynan Parish, not in 

Keady Parish.  The Earl donated the money to build the Presbyterian Church at Drumhillery in the 1860s.  

The Earl of Caledon leased a number of townlands in County Armagh from the Bishop of Armagh, 

including the townlands of Drumhillery, Cortynan (Woodhill), Annagharap, Tullyglush-kean, Tullyglush-

nevin, Creevekeeran, Mullan, Tinglish, Turry, and Sheetrim. 

   

TYNAN PARISH, CO. ARMAGH 

According to Angelique Day and Patrick McWilliam, eds., Ordnance Survey Memoirs of Ireland, Vol. 1, 

Parishes of Co. Armagh, 1835-8, Dublin: Institute of Irish Studies, 1993 (Tynan Parish, Co. Armagh, pp. 

124-132): 

 

Tynan Parish. . .is 9 and ½ miles in length and 3 and ½ miles in breadth.  It contains 17,046 acres, of 

which 16,580 are cultivated, and 120 acres are in water.  There are no woods in the parish. . .The town of 

Tynan is about 76 miles from Dublin.  It is a small village. . .and the parish church is situated in the village.  

It can accommodate about 500 or 600 persons.  There is a court house, a small and neat police barracks, a 

school house, a dispensary for the use of the poor of the parish and a post office.  The houses are built of 

limestone and are tolerably clean and comfortable.  The only public buildings within the parish are 3 

churches, Tynan, Middletown, Killylea. . .3 meeting houses, viz. the Presbyterian meeting houses, one at 

Middletown and another in Drumhillery, each capable of accommodating about 400 persons.    Tynan 

Abbey is the seat of Sir James M. Stronge.*   Killylea is the seat of J. T. Armstrong Esquire, and at Darton 

House. . the seat of M. Cross Esquire, and at Wood Park, the seat of Acheson St George Esquire.  Bondville 

is the seat of H. C. Bond Esquire, and Ashfort is the seat of Hugh Harris Esquire.   

 
86 Based on several visits to Tynan Parish by Gwen Barry 
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There is a corn and flax mill in the townland of Tynan. . .There is a flax mill at Derryhaw. . . and a corn 

mill at Belteagh. . . a flax mill in Tullyglush Kane. . . a flax mill in Drummond. . .A corn mill in Unshog. . .A 

corn mill in Doogary. . .and a small malt mill attached to the distillery at Middletown.  There is a corn mill 

in Knockban.  

 

The principal roads are the one leading from Caledon to Armagh; the new line of road from Caledon to 

Castleblayney. . .the road from Armagh to Monaghan.  The northern half of the parish is rich ground and 

well cultivated.  The southern portion of the parish consists of poorer and less productive soil.  It has a 

bleak and cold appearance. . .It is very hard to determine whether the health of the people generally has 

been much improved by the establishment of dispensaries.  The smallpox and measles have been prevalent 

during the last year. . .The introduction of schools has certainly improved the moral habits of the people, 

who are anxious for information and knowledge.  The schools are during the greater part of the year well 

attended by the children of both sexes, but during the time of gathering the potatoes there are 

comparatively few in attendance.   

 

Habits of the People: Most of the cottages are built with stone, 1 story high, thatched and divided into 2 or 

3 apartments.  There is a great want of comfort and cleanliness about them.  There are several mud cabins 

belonging to the poorer class of the people, which are wretched habitations and very dirty.  The principal 

articles of food are potatoes, milk, butter, eggs and meal prepared in various ways.  Emigration does not 

prevail to any considerable extent.  There are however some families every year who leave this country 

(generally from the southern part of the parish) for America and but seldom return. . .The usual size of the 

holdings is from 5 to 30 acres, generally held by leases of 1 life or 21 years direct from the head landlords. 

. .The farmers in general cultivate the land for subsistence only.  The markets attended for the sale of wheat 

are Caledon and Armagh.  Tynan village contains few inhabitants and has a gloomy wretched appearance.  

The houses are in bad repair.  Trades: 1 baker, 1 blacksmith, 4 publicans, 1 reed maker, 1 watchmaker, 1 

general store. 

 

A Stronge descendant of Sir James Stronge of Tynan Abbey was murdered at Tynan by the Provisional 

IRA in 1981, as per the following excerpt from Wikipedia: 

Sir Charles Norman Lockhart Stronge, 8th Baronet, MC, PC, JP (23 July 1894 ï 21 January 

1981), was a senior Ulster Unionist Party politician in Northern Ireland.  Before his involvement 

in politics, he fought in the First World War as a junior officer in the British Army.  He fought in 

the Battle of the Somme in 1916 and was awarded the Military Cross.  His positions after the war 

included Speaker of the House of Commons of Northern Ireland for twenty-three years.  He was 

shot and killed (aged 86), along with his son, James (aged 48), by the Provisional Irish 

Republican Army in 1981 at Tynan Abbey, their home, which was burnt to the ground during the 

attack. 

CHURCHES WHICH SERVED AGHALOO PARISH ï EASTERN HALF (where the Hendersons lived) 

Church of Ireland 

The first C of I church was built in Caledon Village on Church Hill in the 1620s or 1630s.  It was 

destroyed in the Irish Rebellion of 1641.  A second church was built on the same site in 1684, and the first 

service was preached to a packed house, with the guest preacher being John Wesley, who was an 

Anglican at the time, and later founder of the Wesleyan Methodists.  About 1685, the soldiers of King 

James II bombarded the church and destroyed the slate shingle roof.  Services did not resume again until 

June 1691.87  For the period 1641-1691, the congregation attended St Vindicôs Church of Ireland in Tynan 

 
87 History of the Minterburn Territory and Town of Caledon, John J. Marshall, Dungannon:Tyrone Printing Co., p. 33. 
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Village.  Records of baptism, marriages and burials for the C of I at Caledon are held by PRONI: MIC 

583/25.  That microfilm had about 15 pages that proved to faint to be read.  So PRONI has recently 

recopied the Parish Registers for the C of I Caledon as a new and improved microfilm No. PRONI MIC 

1/326.     

The first church in Tynan, Co. Armagh was St Vindics, Church of Ireland.  It was built by at least 1641.  

The present church was built in 1784, and enlarged in 1822.  Records of baptisms, marriages, and burials 

are held at PRONI: MIC 1/12, 1/18, and T/808/15294.  The records from St Vindics Church from 1683-

1723 have been published in Duiche Neill: Journal of the OôNeill Country Historical Society, Vol. 15, 

2006, pp. 106-108. 

Presbyterian Churches 

1st Keady, Kinnard óThe Templeô was the first Presbyterian church which served the people of the eastern 

half of Aghaloo Parish and Tynan Parish.  It was built c1661, and was located at Lislooney, Derrynoose 

Parish, Co Armagh.  It was known as Kinnard Presbyterian, and 1st Keady óThe Temple.ô  It was not 

located in Kinnard (Caledon) Aghaloo Parish, or in Keady.  The area that it served was too large for one 

preacher to cover, and too far to walk for many of its wide-spread congregation.  In 1714, it split into 3 

congregations.88  The records for 1st Keady at Lislooney are on PRONI MIC 1P/296.   

Minterburn Presbyterian, in Dyan Townland, Aghaloo Parish was built in 1714 as a result of the split of 

1st Keady.  The records for Minterburn Presbyterian are on PRONI MIC 1P/460/1 for marriages 1819-

1822, and PRONI MIC 1P/25/1 for baptisms and marriages 1845-1870.  They are also available at the 

Presbyterian Historical Society, Belfast.  The original registers are held by the Presbyterian Church  in 

Dungannon, Co. Tyrone.  The PRONI records and the Presbyterian Historical Society records are rather 

spotty, and it is not known if anyone has the records dating back to 1714.   

A Presbyterian Church at Middletown, Tynan Parish, Co. Armagh was formed as a result of the split of 1st 

Keady in 1714.  

Because of rising rent prices and discrimination against Presbyterians by the Church of Ireland about the 

year 1720 twenty-two families whose Presbyterian heads had at one time been Commissioners and Ruling 

Elders of the Presbyterian Churches at Lislooney (1st Keady) and at Minterburn left for New England, 

taking many of their congregation with them.  Others continued to follow well beyond 1720.  This 

Presbyterian migration movement to New England was happening all over Ulster.  There is a Minterburn 

Mill in the town of Vernon, Tolland Co., Connecticut.  Hugh Maxwell, baptized in 1733 at Minterburn 

Presbyterian, Aghaloo Parish emigrated to Bedford, Mass. with his parents, and married in 1760 at 

Lexington Mass.89  It is not known if there were any Hendersons among the Minterburn group of 

emigrants to New England. 

A seceding Presbyterian Church was built in 1824 on the main street in Caledon Village. 

Methodist Church  A chapel was built in Caledon Village in 1834. 

Drumhillery Presbyterian Church in Tynan Parish was built in 1868, on land given by the Earl of 

Caledon.  Its records are on PRONI MIC 1P/440.   

 

 

 
88History of the Minterburn Territory and Town of Caledon, John J. Marshall, Dungannon:Tyrone Printing Co., p. 36.  
89 Source: http://www.rays-place.com/town/ma/heath-b2.htm  

http://www.rays-place.com/town/ma/heath-b2.htm
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LAND OWNERSHIP OF AGHALOO PARISH, CO. TYRONE AND TYNAN PARISH, CO. 

ARMAGH 

The OôNeills 

As previously stated, the Irish OôNeill tribe owned both Aghaloo Parish and parts of Tynan Parish from 

about 1400 to 1652.  It was known as óThe Minterburn Territory.ô  Sir Phelim OôNeill had his manor at 

Kinard in Aghaloo Parish.  (Kinard village later became Caledon Village.) 

The Hamiltons 

In 1661, for his service in the Irish Rebellion and the Cromwellian War, Captain William Hamilton was 

granted all of those lands comprising Sir Phelim OôNeillôs eastern half of Aghaloo parish.  Hamiltonôs 

home was at Curran Lough, near Benburb, Co. Tyrone.  He had formerly been a middleman tenant on the 

estate of the Wingfields at their Manor of Benburb, Co. Tyrone, which was part of the Abercorn-

Baronscourt Estate.  In 1646, Captain Hamilton had been a part of the local British militia forces that fought 

and lost to the Irish OôNeills at the Battle of Benburb.  He went on to serve elsewhere in Ireland during the 

Cromwellian War.  Captain William Hamilton died at Kinnard in 1674.   

 John Hamilton inherited the eastern half of Aghaloo Parish in 1674 from his father.  John was MP for 

Dungannon in 1692 and 1695, and MP for Strabane.  An Irish deed, Memorial No. 1-472-368, dated 15th 

and 16th February 1708 formalized a marriage settlement in anticipation of the intended marriage of John 

Hamilton Esq., of Kinnard (Caledon), and Lucy Dopping, daughter of the Bishop of Meath. The Memorial 

Deed lists about 200 townlands which John Hamilton had inherited from his father. The estate included 

every townland of eastern Aghaloo Parish, as well as some in Tynan Parish, Co. Armagh, and a few in 

Clonfeacle Parish, Co. Tyrone.90   John Hamilton died in 1713.  The Estate passed to Johnôs son, William 

Hamilton, who died in 1723.  It then passed to Williamôs daughter Margaret Hamilton.   

In 1738, Margaret Hamilton married John Boyle, 5th Earl of Orrery (and later 5th Earl of Cork and 

Orrery). They lived at Kinnard.  In addition to his wifeôs inherited land, Boyle leased eight 

townlands in Tynan Parish from the Church of Ireland, Bishop of Armagh.  By 1762, both the 5th 

Earl of Cork and Orrery and his wife, Margaret Hamilton were dead, and the estate passed into the hands of 

their only son by their marriage, namely Edmund Boyle.  By 1775, he had near bankrupted the estate 

through extravagant living, and the Estate had to be sold. 

From 1752 up to and including the Alexander ownership era from 1776 to the late 1800s, the records are 

held at PRONI, as the óCaledon Estate Papers,ô series D2433.  The tenant leases for Hendersons (and 

Davidsons) from about 1752 to the early 1830s have been reviewed and abstracted.   Those lease records 

can be found at http://www.booksbygwen.ca left hand side of the Home Page. 

The Alexanders 
In 1776, Edmund Boyle, 6th Earl of Cork and Orrery sold the whole of the Caledon estate, comprising 

9,000 acres to James Alexander of Londonderry for £96,400.  He was the son of Nathaniel Alexander, 

alderman of Londonderry. The family holdings included the house and demesne of Boom Hall in 

Templemore Parish in the northern suburbs of the city of Londonderry, the Church Land Estate of Moville, 

Co. Donegal, and an estate near Ballycastle, Co. Antrim.  In 1790, James Alexander was appointed Baron 

Caledon in the Irish Peerage.  In 1797, he was appointed 1st Viscount Caledon, and in 1800 he became the 

1st Earl of Caledon.  It is from James Alexanderôs peerage that the village of Kinnard became known as 

Caledon.  The Alexanderôs estate in Aghaloo Parish, County Tyrone became óThe Caledon Estate.ô 

 
90 From the website óArborealis,ô of Alison Kilpatrick. The memorial deed, including the list of townlands inherited by 

John Hamilton can be found on Alisonôs website at http://www.arborealis.ca/blog/townlands-caledon-1708/  

http://www.booksbygwen.ca/
http://www.arborealis.ca/blog/townlands-caledon-1708/
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Alexander expanded the Estate, by the piecemeal purchase or lease of surrounding townlands in Aghaloo 

Parish from the Abercorn-Baronscourt Hamiltons in the late 1700s.  Some of their lots of the Earl of 

Caledon were sold off, after the Irish Potato Famine of 1847-1852.  The Alexanders still own a few 

townlands in Aghaloo Parish, and live at the Manor House in Caledon a few months each year, where they 

hold an open house for the citizens of eastern Aghaloo Parish.  For a fuller account of the history of 

Churches and Land Ownership in Aghaloo Parish and Tynan Parish, go to http://www.booksbygwen (left 

hand side of the Home Page).    

  

                            
 

The cemetery at Drumhillery, Tynan Parish, Co. Armagh  has been beautified, and many of the old 

headstones have been removed. 
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